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AUBITORS: RERORT
T8 the Board of irectors of the Infernational Bank of the Republic of Azerbauan
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11 December 2006
Baku, Republic of Azerbayan

We lave audited the accompanying consolidated balance s nternational
SV 1 b oGS U L o) o O e
Group" as deﬁnegl In Note 1tat 399ﬂ§glld§t§d r nanglal statements) as at 30 June
2008, and the related consolidated statements of ncome, of cash flows and of
changes in shareholders’ equity for the six-month penod then ended These
consohdated financial statements are the responsibility of the Group's management
QOur responsibility ts to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements

based on our audit.

It

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
Those Standards require that we plan and perform our audit to obtain reasconable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement An audit includes examining, an a test basis, evidence supngrﬁng the
amounts and dtsclosures in the consolldated financial statements An aud
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presentat:on We believe that our a udlt rov:de Snable basus for our opumon

presentation We believe that our audit prowdes a reasonable basts tor our opinon
In our op:mon the accompanylng consohdated financial statements present fairly, in
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The Infernational Bank ¢ gf the Republic of Azerbaifan

Eonsalidated Balance Sheet )
ofe une ecember
In thousands of new Azerbar ani Manats Nogo 38 ;’dﬁB 31 Becerf&gé
&S;E}g cash equivalents 6 142,066 258.370
M%n&at& /cash baldnces with the National Bank of the ° 400 €083
Re”p(ﬁb'} ?Aze ai"’"‘eb vHIN INe NAUONdT Bdank Of 1Ne 85 512 65 941
Ue from othar o7 banks' " 7 320,509 54,336
LQEHS and advances to customers 8 683212 678470
Investment secunties available for sale 128 128
Investment sacunites held to matunty 9 10,367 6,550
Investment in associates and joint ventures 10 1,400 1,363
Goodwill on acquisition of a subsidiary 1,332 1,460
Premises, equipment, intangibles and investment properties 11,12 82,246 78,455
Othor assets 13 13,206 10,236
Assets of disposal groups 29 24,939 -
TOTAL ASSETS 1,364,926 1,155,309
________ﬂ- e e e e ettty
BILIY
Bge 10 o}Lgr banks 14 9,869 8.??2
Custo o1 gccount.g 15 1,067.485 908,574
Bk §=95m|e§ Iq issue 1 ag&p 2102
rru L Pn § 1; ;q'.omz. &g' g;
g [ a l t 1 : q '
Osfad s gy 23 0 953
Liabiities of dispozal groups 29 1811
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,264,914 1,071,806
EQUITY
Share capital 19 33154 24,820
Revaluation reserve for premises and equipment 12,23 17,637 18,092
Cumulative translation reserve 1,463 087
Retained earnings 47,758 39,604
TOTAL FQUITY 100,012 83,503
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUIFY 1.364.928 1,133.393
Approved for 1ssue by the Beard of Birectors and signed on fts behalf an 11 December 2008
Mr JahangipHapyev '
Chatrman gt the Board of Directors Head of the Financial Management Department
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The International Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan
Consolidated Income Statement

Note Six-Month Six-Month
Period Ended Period Ended
In thousands of new Azerbanan Manats 30 June 2006 30 June 2005
Interest iIncome: 20 53,490 36,953
Interest expense 20 (14,895) {9,457)
Net interest income 38,595 27,496
Provision for impairment of due from other banks 7 (2,247) (762)
Provision for imparment of loans to customers 8 {6,843) {16,451)
Net interest income after provision for impairment 29,505 10,283
Foreign currency translation gains less losses/(losses less gains) 1,331 (2,777)
Gains less losses ansing from trading in foreign currencies 8,657 4,456
Fee and commission income 21 22,247 20,233
Fee and commission expense 21 (2,576) (1,208)
Losses on origination of assets/liabilities at rates below/above market (136) -
Gross insurance premiums wniten, net of premiums ceded 1,914 1,548
Increase of provision for unearned premiums, net of reinsurance (476) 77
Net claims incurred (559) (457)
Other income 349 191
Operating income 60,256 32,094
Administrative and other operating expenses 22 (38,896) (19,881)
Profit from operations 21,360 12,213
Share of profit from investment in associates and joint ventures 10 56 4
Profit before taxation 21,416 12,217
Income tax charge 23 (6,838) (3,869)
Net profit after tax 14,578 8,348
The notes set out on pages 7 to 49 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 4




The international Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Note Six-Month Six-Month
Penod Ended Period Ended
in thousands of new Azerbayan Manats 30 June 2006 30 June 2005
Cash flows from operating activities
Interest receved 38,774 32,781
Interest paid (13,355} (9,417)
Income received from trading in foreign currencies 8,657 4,456
Fees and commissions received 22,247 19,347
Fees and commissions paid (2,576) (1,083)
Insurance premiums recetwved, net 878 1,880
Other operating Income receved 303 191
Admimistrative and other operating expenses paid (23,219) (15,596)
Income tax paid (1,994) (3,334)
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in
operating assets and habilities 29,715 29,225
Changes in operating assets and habilittes
Net increase in mandatory cash balances with the National Bank of
the Republic of Azerbayan (19,571) (3.377)
Net increase in due from other banks (268,012) (135,699}
Net increase in loans and advances to customers (29,939) (32,243)
Net (increase)/decrease in investment secunties held to matunty (3,817} 2779
Net (increase)/decrease in other assets (279) 2,168
Net increase/(decrease) in due to other banks 1.111 (38)
Net increase in customer accounts 157,906 46,358
Net increase/{decreasa) in debt secunties in 1ssue (3,389} 1,608
Net increase/(decrease) in other habilities 24,087 (284)
Net cash used n operating activitias {112,188} {90,503)
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisiton of premises and equipment 12 (13,152} {8.215)
Acquisition of intangible assets 12 (2,790) (2,143}
Proceeds from disposal of investments in associates and joint ventures 85 10
Net cash used in investing activities (15,887) {10,348}
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from other borrowed funds 5,703 335
Repayment of other borrowed funds (1,371} {2,566)
Issuance of ordinary shares 8,334 -
Dividends paid 24 (2,702) (3.347)
Net cash from/(used n) financing activities 9,964 {5,578}
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash aquivalents 1,807 {3,503)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivatents for the penod (116,304} (109,932)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the penod 258,370 222,758
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the penod 6 142,066 112,826
The notes set out on pages 7 to 49 form an integrat part of these consolidated financial statements 5




The International Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Note Share Revaluation Cumulative Retained Total share

Capital reserve for translation earnings  holders’

In thousands of new Azerbayant Manats premises reserve equity
Balance as at 1 January 2005 20,000 1,743 2,595 28,874 53,212
Share 1ssue 19 4,820 - - - 4,820
Correction on realised revaluation reserve - 161 - - 161
Currency translation differences - - (1,608) - (1,608)
Revaiuation of premises 12,23 - 20,754 - - 20,754
Deferred tax liability 12,23 - (4,566) - - (4,566)
Net profit for the penod - - - 20,330 20,330
Dwidends declared 24 - - - (9,600) (9,600)
Balance as at 31 December 2005 24,820 18,092 a87 39,604 83,503
Share 1ssue 19 8,334 - - - 8334
Transfer of realized revaluation reserve {455) - 455 -
Currency translaticn differences - - 476 - 476
Net profit for the pernod - - - 14578 14,578
Dividends declared 24 - - - (6,879) (6.879)
Balance as at 30 June 2006 33,154 17,637 1,463 47,758 100,012
The notes set out on pages 7 to 49 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 8




The International Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan
Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements — 30 June 2006

1 Introduction

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards for the six-month pencod ended 30 June 2006 for the International Bank of the Republic of Azerbayan (the
Bank) and its subsidianes (together referred to as “the Group”)

Pnincipal activity. The International Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan was incorporated in 1991 as a fully state-
owned bank and 15 domiciled 1n the Repubhc of Azerbayan On 28 October 1992, the Bank became a jomt-stock
commercial bank and the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Azerbajan became the major shareholder with the
ownership of 50 2% of the total authonzed and 1ssued share capital of the Bank The Bank was registered in the
Repubhc of Azerbayan to provide commercial banking services and has been operating under a full banking license
granted by the National Bank of the Republic of Azerbajan (*NBAR”) on 30 December 1892 On 1 March 2005, a
Presidential Decree, which outlined the process for pnvatization of the state shareholding in the Bank’s share capital,
was enacted Based on the provisions of this Decree, the government will have to reduce gradually its share in the
Bank's share capital either by selling its existing shares or by issuing additional shares at the open market, including
international financial market

The Bank’s head office I1s located in Baku, Azerbaijan The Bank has 36 branches and 114 points of service 1n the
Republic of Azerbayan (31 December 2005 36 branches, 103 points of service) The Group had 1,618 employees as
at 30 June 2006 (31 December 2005 1,525 employees) where 1,284 employees are employed by the Bank, 71 — by
the International Insurance Company, 41 — by Azencard Limited, 7 — by Azenleasing, 64 - by “Inter" professional
football club and 141 - by the Group’s fully owned banking subsidiary n Russia (31 December 2005 1,240-by the
Bank, 58-by Internaticnal Insurance Company, 35-by Azericard Limited, 7-by Azerleasing, 64-by “Inter’ professional
football club and 121-by the Group's fully owned banking subsidiary in Russia)

A full hst of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of the Group included within these consolidated financial
statements 1s provided In Note 29

On 24 January 2002 the Group registered its fully-owned subsidiary, International Bank of Azerbajan Republic-
Moscow, in Moscow, Russia (“IBAR Moscow™) The share capital of IBAR Moscow was established in the amount of
EUR 10,000,000 It s a commercial bank in the form of a imited llabiity company IBAR Moscow started its
operations under a licence 1ssued by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation (“‘the CBRF"} on 25 January 2002
This licence allows IBAR Moscow to carry out banking operations with legal entities In Russian Rubles and in foreign
currency During the first two years after its registration due to the statutory requirements IBAR Moscow was
restricted from attracting deposits of individuals On 1 December 2004 IBAR Moscow received a licence from the
CBRF allowing 1t to provide full range of banking services to individuals IBAR Moscow's principal activity 1s
represented by commercial banking operations IBAR Moscow's registered office 1s located at the following address
Tverskaya 6, Bldg 2, Moscow, Russia IBAR Moscow opened a branch in Saint Petersburg, Russia on 28 May 2003
and in Yekateninburg on 25 August 2005

On 5 February 2002 the Group registerad its fully-owned subsidiary, International Insurance Company (“Insurance
Subsidiary”} at the Mimistry of Justice of the Republic of Azerbayan Insurance Subsidiary operates under insurance
license Number AB 029205 1ssued by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Azerbagan on 1 Apnl 2002 and
addendum to the above license 1ssued on 16 August 2002 Based on the decision dated 24 December 2004 of the
Supervisory Council of the Group to increase the share capital of the Insurance Subsidiary the share capital of
International Insurance Company was increased by AZN 4,000 thousand up to AZN 8,800 thousand dunng the year
2005

The activity of the Insurance Subsidiary includes medtcal, manne third party liability, marine hull, property, casualty,
life, personal insurance, insurance of banking nsks and reinsurance Dunng 2004 the insurance subsidiary received
additional icenses on mandatory fire insurance and on insurance of liability for non-performance of obligations The
official address of the Insurance Subsidiary 1s J Jabbarl Street 46, Baku, the Republic of Azerbayjan

On 7 October 2002 the Group’s Insurance Substdiary, International Insurance Company, established a captive
reinsurance company, Inter Protect Re AG It was registered in Zurich, Switzerland Refer to Note 29

Azencard Limited, which 1s 100% owned by the Bank, was established as a imited liability company on 3 May 1996
Azencard Limited was registered with the Ministry of Justice of the Republic of Azerbayan on 4 July 1996 and
commenced its operations in 1997 Azencard Limited 1s a member service prowider for MasterCard and Visa
International and acts as a cleanng and authorization center for plastic card transactions in the Republic of
Azerbajan

Azencard Limited at present 1s the only provider of plastic cards operations authonzaton and clearing services in the
Republic of Azerbajan The registered office address of Azencard Limited 1s Nizami Street, 67, AZ1001, Baku, the
Republic of Azerbayan




The International Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan
Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements — 30 June 2006

1 Introduction (Continued)

On 20 June 2004 “Inter” professional football club was established by the Bank and Azericard Limited and registered
with the Ministry of Justice of the Republic of Azerbayan In accordance with the foundation agreements signed
between the Bank and Azencard Lsmited, the charter capital of the professional football club was set at
AZN 402 thousand, of which AZN 300 thousand were contrbuted by the Bank and the remaining
AZN 102 thousand by Azercard Limited This club 1s a member of the Azerbaijan Feotball Federations Association
and 1s one of the leading professional football clubs in the country

On 25 July 2006 the Group sold 100% of its interest in “Inter” professional football club to a local company n an
arms-length transaction Refer to Note 29

On 18 June 1999 the Group estabhished a leasing subsidiary “Azenleazing” with the charter capital of
AZN 369 thousand On 29 July 2004 the Group increased the share caprtal of its leasing subsidiary by contnbuting an
addtional AZN 331 thousand As a result, the share capital of the leasing subsidiary was AZN 700 thousandas at
30 June 2006 (31 December 2005 AZN 700 thousand)

On 19 September 2006 the Group signed an agreement with a Brtish leasing company on the sale of 52 4% of its
interest In “Azernleasing The management of the Group believes that terms and references of this contract constitute
with those of an ordinary arms-length contract with unrelated parties Refer to Note 29

Registered address and place of busmess The Bank's registered address 1s

67 Nizami Street,
AZ1001, Baku
Republic of Azerbaijan

Presentation currency. These consolidated financial statements are presented In thousands of new Azerbajan
Manats ("AZN thousands")

2 Operating Environment of the Group

The Republic of Azerbayan displays certain charactenstics of an emerging market, including the existence of a
currency that 1s not freely convertible In most countries outside of the Republic of Azerbayan, restrictive currency
controls, relatively high inflaton and economic growth The banking sector in the Republic of Azerbayan is sensitive
to adverse fluctuations in confidence and economic condibons The Azerbayam economy occasionally expenences
falls in confidence in the banking sector accompanied by reductions i hquicity Management 1s unable to predict
economic trends and developments in the banking sector and what effect, if any, a detenoration in the hquidity of or
confidence in the Azerbayani banking system could have on the financial position of the Group

The tax, currency and customs legislation within the Republic of Azerbayan 1s subject to varying interpretations, and
changes, which can accur frequently Furthermore, the need for further developments in the bankruptey laws, the
absence of formalised procedures for the registraton and enforcement of collateral, and other legal and fiscal
impediments contribute to the difficulties expenenced by banks currently operating in the Republic of Azerbaijan The
future economic direction of the Republic of Azerbayan 1s largely dependent upon the effectiveness of economic,
financial and monetary measures undertaken by the Government, together with tax, legal, regulatory, and politcal
developments

3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Intemational
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
prermuses and equipment and available-for-sale financial assets The pnncipal accounting policies apphed in the
preparation of these consolidated financtal statements are sef out below These policies have been consistently
applied to all the penods presented, unless otherwise stated

Consolidated financial statements Subsidianes are those companies and other entties In which the Group,
directly or indirectly, has an interest of more than one half of the voting nghts or otherwise has power to govern the
financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits The existence and effect of potential voting nghts that are
presently exercisable or presently convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another
entty Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group (acquisition date) and
are de-consclidated from the date that control ceases

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
elminated, unrealised losses are also eiminated unless the cost cannot be recovered The Bank and its subsidiary
use uniform accounting policies consistent with the Group’s policies




The International Bank of the Repubiic of Azerbaijan
Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements — 30 June 2006

3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies {Continued)

Associates Associates are entities, over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of hetween 20 and 50 percent of the voting nghts Investments in associates are
accounted for by the equity method of accounting and are inibally recognised at cost The carrying amount of
associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition less accumulated impairment losses, if any The Group's share
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of associates 1s recorded In the consohdated income statement, and its share
of post-acquisiton movements in reserves Is recognised in reserves When the Group’s share of losses In an
assoclate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the asscciate

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in the associates, unrealised Josses are also ellminated unless the transaction provides ewidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred

Key measurement terms. Depending on their classification, financial instruments are carned at cost, far value, or
amortised cost as described below

Cost 1s the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire an
asset at the tme of its acquisition and includes fransaction costs Transaction costs are incremental costs that are
directly attnbutable to the acquisition, 1ssue or disposal of a financial instrument An incremental cost 1s one that
would not have been incurred if the transaction had not taken place Transaction costs include fees and commissions
paid to agents (including employees acting as selling agents), advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory
agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties Transaction costs do not include debt premiums
or discounts, financing costs or internal administrative or holding costs

Fair value 1s the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing
parties in an arm'’s length transaction Fair value 1s the current bid price for financial assets and current asking pnce
for financial labilities, which are quoted in an active market For assets and llabilities with offsetting market nsks, the
Group may use mid-market prices as a basis for establishing fair values for the offsetting nsk positions and apply the
bid or asking price to the net open position as appropnate A financial instrument Is regarded as quoted in an active
market If quoted pnces are readily and regularly available from an exchange or other institution and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurrning market transactions on an arm’s length basis

In other than active markets, the most recent arms length transactions are the basis of current farr values Recent
transaction prices are appropnately adjusted if they do not reflect current fair values, for example because the
transaction was a distress sale Fair value 1s not the amount that an entity would receive or pay in a foreed
transaction, involuntary iquidation or distress sale

Valuation techniques such as discounted cash flows models and consideration of financial data of the investees are
used to farr value certain financial instruments for which external market pricing information 1s not available Valuation
technigues may require assumptions not supported by observable market data Disclosures are made n these
consolidated financial statements If changing any such assumptions to a reasonably possible alternative would result
in significantly different profit, mcome, total assets or total liabilities

Amortised cost 1s the amount at which the financial instrument was recognised at initial recogmition less any principal
repayments, plus accrued interest, and for financial assets less any wnte-down for incurred impairment losses
Accrued interest includes amortisation of transaction costs deferred at initial recogniion and of any premium or
discount to matunty amount using the effective mterest method Accrued interest income and accrued interest
expense, Including both accrued coupon and amortised discount, are not presented separately and are included in
the carrying values of related balance shest items

The effactive inferest method s a method of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant penod so
as to achieve a constant penodic rate of interest (effectve tnterest rate) on the carrying amount The effective
interest rate 1s the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (excluding future credit
losses)} through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter penod, if appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial instrument The effective interest rate discounts cash flows of vanable interest instruments to
the next interest re-pncing date except for the premium or discount, which reflects the credit spread over the floating
rate specified in the instrument, or other variables that are not reset to market rates  Such premiums or discounts are
amortised over the whole expected lifs of the instrument The present value calculation includes all fees and points
paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate (refer to iIncome
and expense recognition policy}

Initial recognition of financial instruments Trading secunties, derivatives and cther financial instruments at farr
value through profit or loss are intally recorded at fair value All other financial instruments are imbally recorded at
fair value plus transaction costs Fair value at initial recognition 1S best evidenced by the transaction pnce A gain or
loss on inihal recognition is only recorded If there 1s a difference between fair vaiue and transaction pnice, which can
be evidenced by other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique,
whose inputs include only data from observable markets




The International Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan
Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements - 30 June 2006

3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

All purchases and sales of financial instruments that require delivery within the period established by regulation or
market convention (‘regular way” purchases and sales) are recorded at trade date, which is the date that the Group
commits to deliver a financial instrument  All other purchases and sales are recognised on the settlement date with
the change In value between the commitment date and settlement date not recognised for assets camed at cost or
amortised cost, recognised in profit or loss for trading secunties, denvatives and other financial assets at far value
through prefit or loss, and recognised In equity for assets classified as available for sale

Cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents are items, which can be converted into cash within a day,
including mandatory cash balances in Azerbayani Manat held with the NBAR All short-term inter-bank placements,
beyond overnight placements, are included in due from other banks Amounts, which relate to funds that are of a
restncted nature, are excluded from cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents are camed at amortised
cost

Mandatory cash balances in foreign currency held with the NBAR Mandatory cash balances in foreign currency
held with the NBAR are carried at amorised cost and represent non-interest beaning mandatory reserve deposits,
which are not available to finance the Group's day-to-day operations, and hence are not considered as part of cash
and cash equivalents for the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement

Due from other banks Amounts due from other banks are recorded when the Group advances money to
counterparty banks with no intention of trading the resulting unquoted non-dervatve recewvable due on fixed or
determinable dates Amounts due from other banks are carned at amortised cost

Loans and advances to customers Loans and advances to customers are recorded when the Group advances
money to purchase or onginate an unquoted non-denvative receivable from a customer due on fixed or determinable
dates and has no intention of trading the receivable Loans and advances to customers are camed at amortised cost

Impairment of financial assets carried at amortised cost. Imparment losses are recognised in profit or logs when
incurred as a result of one or more events (“loss events”) that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset and which have an impact on the amount or timing of the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
group of financial assets that can be reliably estmated if the Group determines that, no objective evidence exists
that impairment was incurred for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset tn a group of financial assets with similar credt nsk charactenstics and collectively assesses them for
impairment

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped based on similar credit nsk
characteristics Those characteristics are relevant o the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by
being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being
evaluated

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estmated on the
basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets and the expenence of management, in respect of the extent to which
amounts will become overdue as a result of past loss events and the success of recovery of overdue amounts Past
experience I1s adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not
affect past penods and to remove the effects of past condibons that do not exist currently

Impairment losses are recogrised through an allowance account to write down the asset’'s carrying amount to the
present value of expected cash flows (which exclude future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at
the effective interest rate of the asset The calculation of the present value of the estmated future cash flows of a
collateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and
selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure 1s probable

If, in a subsequent perod, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occuming after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor's credt rating), the
previously recognised impaiment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account threugh profit or loss

Uncollectible assets are wntten off against the related impatrment loss provision after all the necessary procedures to
recover the asset have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined

Investment secunties avaiable for sale This classification includes nvestment secunties, which the Group intends
to hold for an indefinite pencd and which may be sold in response to needs for kquidity or changes in interest rates,
exchange rates or equity pnces

Investment secunties available for sale are carned at fair value Interest ncome on available for sale debt securities I1s
calculated, using the effective Interest method and recognised n profit or loss  Dividends on avallable-for-sale equity
Instruments are recognised n profit or loss when the Group's nght to receve payment ts established All other elements of
changes in the fair value are deferred in equity until the investment 1s derecognised or imparred, at which tme the
cumulative gain or loss 1s removed from equity to profit or loss

10




The International Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan
Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements — 30 June 2006

3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment losses are recognised In profit or loss when incurred because of one or more events ('loss events”) that
occurred after the inibal recognition of investment secunties available for sale A significant or prolonged deciine in
the farr value of an equity secunty below its cost s an indicator that it 1s impaired The cumulative impaiment loss —
measured as the difference between the acquisibon cost and the current fair value, less any impaiment loss on that
asset previously recogmsed in profit or loss — 1s removed from equity and recognised In profit of loss Impairment
losses on equity Instruments are not reversed through profit or loss If, In a subsequent period, the farr value of a debt
instrument classified as avallable for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurning
after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss s reversed through current period's
profit or loss

Investment securtties heid to maturity This classification includes quoted non-denvative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments and fixed matunties that the Group has both the intention and ability to hold to maturity
Management determines the classification of investment securites held to matunty at their imitial recognition and
reassesses the appropnateness of that classification at each balance sheet date Investment securities held to
matunty are carned at amortised cost

Promissory notes purchased Promissary notes purchased are included in trading secunties, or in due from other
banks or In loans and advances to customers, depending on their substance and are recorded, subsequently re-
measured and accounted for in accordance with the accounting policies for these categornes of assets

Investment properties. Investment property 1s property held by the Group to earn rental income or for capital
appreciation and which 1s not occupied by the Group

Investment properties are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and provision for iImpairment, where required
If any indication exists, that investment properbes may be impaired, the Group estimates the recoverable amount as
the higher of value in use and farr value less costs to sell The carrying amount of an investment property 1s written
down to its recoverable amount through profit or loss An impairment loss recognised in prior years Is reversed if
there has been a subsequent change in the estimates used to determme the asset's recoverable amount

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the farr value of the acquirer's share of
the identifiable assets, labilities and contingent habilities of the acquired subsidiary or associate at the date of
exchange Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidianes 1s presented separately in the consolidated balance sheet
Goodwill on acquisitions of associates I1s included In the investment In associates Goodwill 1s carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, If any

The Group tests goodwill for iImpairment at least annually and whenever there are indications that goodwill may be
imparred Goodwill 1s allocated to the acquirer's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination Such units or group of units represent the lowest
level at which the Group monitors goodwill and are not larger than a segment Gains or losses on disposal of an
operation within a cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated include the carrying amount of goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of, generally measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit which is retained

Premises and equipment. Premises and equipment are stated at cost or revalued amounts, less accumulated
depreciation and provision for impairment, where required The revaluation was performed to restate the net book
value of the assets to a level, which reflected therr market value In addition, an independent real estate fim
appraised the value of the Group's building in prior years and the resulting difference was included in the revaluation
reserve for premises and equipment The revaluation reserve included in shareholders’ equity 18 transferred directly
to retained earnings over the estimated useful lfe of re-valued asset Cost of premises and equipment of acguired
subsidianes 1s the estimated fair value at the date of acquisition

Construction in progress 15 carned at cost less provision for impairment where required Cost includes borrowing
costs incurred on specific or general funds borrowed to finance construction of qualfying assets Upon completion,
assets are transferred to premuses and equipment at thewr carrying amount Construchion in progress 1s not
depreciated until the asset 1s available for use

Costs of minor repairs and maintenance are expensed when incurred Cost of replacing major parts or components of
premises and equipment items are capitalised and the replaced part is retired

If imparred, premises and equipment are wntten down to the higher of their value in use and farr value less costs to
sell The decrease in carrying amount 1s charged to profit or loss An impaiment loss recognised for an asset in prior
years 1s reversed If there has been a change In the estimates used to determine the asset’s value in use or farr value
less costs to sell

Gains and losses on disposals determined by companing proceeds with camying amount are recognised In profit or
loss
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3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Depreciation Land is not depreciated Depreciation on other items of premises and equipment is calculated, using
the straight-ine method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives at the following
annual rates

20086 2005
Premises 5% 5%
Leasehold improvements 10%-15% 10%-15%
Computers and other communication equipment 25% 25%
Plastic cards operations equipment 33% 33%
Furniture, fixtures, automated teller machines and other 25% 25%
Motor vehicles 25% 25%

The residual value of an asset s the estimated amount that the Group would currently obtain from disposal of the
asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in the condiion expected at the
end of its useful Iife The residual value of an asset 1s nil if the Group expects to use the asset untl the end of its
physical ife The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted If appropriate, at each balance
sheet date

Intangible assets All of the Group's intangible assets have defimite useful ife and pnmanly include capitalised
computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised based on the costs incurred to acquire and brning to use the
specific software Development costs that are directly associated with identfiable and unique software controlled by
the Group are recorded as intangible assets if inflow of incremental economic benefits exceeding costs 18 probakle
Capitalised costs include staff costs of the software development team and an appropnate portion of relevant
overheads All other costs associated with computer software, eg its mamntenance, are expensed when incurred
Capitalised computer software 1s amortised on a straight-ine basis over expected useful ives of 4 to 5 years

Operating leases. Where the Group 1s a lessee In a lease, which does not transfer substantially all the nisks and
rewards incidental to ownership from the lessor to the Group, the total lease payments, including those on expected
termination, are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the penod of the lease

Finance leases Where the Group s a lessor in a lease, which transfers substantally ail the nsks and rewards
incidental to ownership to the lessee, the assets leased out are presented as a finance lease receivable and carried
at the present value of the future lease payments Finance lease receiwvables are inmally recognised at
commencement date (when the lease term begins), using a discount rate determined at inception (the earlier of the
date of the lease agreement and the date of commitment by the parties to the pnncipal provisions of the lease)

The difference between the gross receivable and the present value represents unearned finance income This
income 1S recognised over the term of the lease, using the net Investment method (before tax), which reflects a
constant perniodic rate of return Incremental costs directly attnbutable to negotiating and arranging the lease are
included in the inittal measurement of the finance lease receivable and reduce the amount of Income recognised over
the lease term unless the Group acts as a manufacturer or dealer lessor, in which case such costs are expensed as
part of the selling profit stmilarly to outnight sales Finance income from leases 1$ recerded within in the consolidated
income statement

Impairment losses are recogmsed n profit or loss when incurred as a result of one or more events (“loss events”) that
occurred after the imtial recognition of finance lease recevables Impairment losses are recognised through an
allowance account to wnte down the receivables’ net carrying amecunt to the present value of expected cash flows
(which exclude future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the interest rates implicit in the finance
leases The estimated future cash flows reflect the cash flows that may result from cbtaining and selling the assets
subject to the lease

Non-current assets classified as held for sale Non-current assets and disposal groups {which may include both
non-current and current assets) are classified in the balance sheet as ‘Non-current assets held for sale’ if ther
carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction within twelve months after the balance sheet
date Both financial and non-financial assets are reclassified when all of the following conditions are met (a) the
assets are available for mmediate sale in their present condition, {(b) the Group's management approved and instiated
an active programme to locate a buyer, (c) the assets are actively marketed for a sale at a reasonable price, (d)
the sale 15 expected within one year and (d} it 1s untikely that significant changes to the plan to sell will be made or
that the plan will be withdrawn Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale 1n the current
period’s balance sheet are not reclassified or re-presented in the comparative balance sheet to reflect the
classification at the end of the current penod
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3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

A disposal group are assets (current or non-current) to be disposed of, by sale or otherwise, together as a group in a
single transaction, and kabilites directly associated with those assets that will be transferred n the transachon
Goodwili 1s included if the disposal group includes an operation within a cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated on acquisiion Non-current assets are assets that include amounts expected to be recovered or
collected more than twelve months after the balance sheet date If reclassification i1s required, both the current and
non-current portions of an asset are reclassified

Held for sale premises and equipment, investment properties, intangible assets, or disposal groups as a whole are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and far value less costs to sell Held for sale premises, equipment,
and Intangible assets are not depreciated or amortised Reclassified non-current financial instruments, deferred taxes
and investment properbes held at fair value are not subject to the write down to the lower of ther carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell

Liabiities directly associated with disposal group that will be transferred in the disposal transaction are reclassified
and presented separately in the balance sheet

Due to other banks Amounts due to other banks are recgrded when money or other assets are advanced to the
Group by counterparty banks The non-denvative liability 1s carned at amortised cost If the Group purchases its own
debt, 1t 15 removed from the consolidated balance sheet and the difference between the carrying amount of the
hability and the consideration paid I1s included in gains or losses ansing from early retirement of debt

Customer accounts Customer accounts are non-derivative Labiites to mdividuals, state or corporate customers
and are carred at amortised cost

Debt securities In 1ssue Debt secunties in 1ssue include debentures 1ssued by the Group Debt secunties are stated
at amortised cost If the Group purchases its own debt secunties In 1ssue, they are removed from the consolidated
balance sheet and the difference between the carrying amount of the hability and the consideration paid 1s included in
gains ansing from retirement of debt

Other borrowed funds Other borrowed funds are non-denvative liabilities to international financial institutions and
are carned at amortised cost

Income taxes. Income taxes have been provided for in the consoldated financial statements in accordance with
Azerbayan: legislation enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date The income tax charge comprises
current tax and deferred tax and 1s recognised in the consolidated income statement except if It 1s recognised directly
In equity because 1t relates {o transactions that are also recognised, in the same or a different peried, directly in
equity

Current tax 1s the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities in respect of taxable
profits or losses for the current and prior penods Taxable profits or losses are based on estmates If consolidated
financial statements of each entity included in the Group are authonsed prior to filng relevant tax retums Taxes,
other than on income, are recorded within administrative and other operating expenses

Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet habiity method for tax loss carry forwards and temporary
differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
pumposes In accordance with the imtial recogmtion exemption, deferred taxes are not recorded for temporary
differences on imitial recognition of an asset or a liabiity in a transaction other than a business combination If the
transaction, when initially recorded, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit Deferred tax balances are measured
at tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, which are expected to apply to the pencd
when the temporary differences will reverse or the tax loss carry forwards will be uthised Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are netted only within the individual companies of the Group Deferred tax assets for deductible temporary
differences and tax loss carry forwards are recorded only to the extent that it 1s probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the deductions can be utilised

Provisions for liabilities and charges Prowvisions for habihibes and charges are non-financial labilibies of uncertain
tming or amount They are accrued when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it 1s probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obhgation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the cbligation can be made

Credit related commitments In the normal course of business, the Group enters into credit related commitments,
including letters of credit and guarantees Commitments to provide foans at a below-market interest rate are nitially
recogmsed at farr value, and subsequently measured at the higher of (1} the unamortized balance of the related fees
receved and deferred and (1) the expenditure required to settle the commitment at the balance sheet date Specific
provisions are recorded against other credit related commitments when losses are considered more likely than not
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2 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Share premium Share premium represents the excess of contnbutions over the nominal value of the shares rssued

Dividends Dwvidends are recorded in equity in the period, in which they are declared Dividends declared after the
balance sheet date and before the consolidated financial statements are authonised for 1ssue are disclosed in the
subsequent events note The statutory accounting reports of the Bank are the basis for profit distrnbution and other
appropnations Azerbayjan legislation identifies the basis of distnbution as the current period net profit

Income and expense recognition Interest income and expense are recorded in the consolidated income statement for all
debt instruments on an accrual basis, using the effective interest method This method defers, as part of interest income or
expense, all fees paid or received between the parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts

Fees integral to the effective interest rate include ongination fees received or paid by the entity relating to the creation
or acquisitton of a financial asset or issuance of a financial hability, for example fees for evaluating creditworthiness,
evaluating and recording guarantees or collateral, negotiating the terms of the instrument and for processing
transaction documents Commitment fees received by the Group to onginate loans at market interest rates are
integral to the effective interest rate if it 1s probable that the Group will enter into a specific lending arrangement and
does not expect to sell the resulting loan shortly after ongination The Group does not designate loan commitments
as financial iabilities at fair value through profit or loss

When loans and other debt instruments become doubtful of collection, they are wntten down to present value of expected
cash inflows and interest Income is thereafter recorded for the unwinding of the present value discount based on the asset's
effective interest rate which was used to measure the impairment loss

All other fees, commissions and other income and expense items are generally recorded on an accrual basis by
reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a
proportion of the total services to be prowided Loan syndication fees are recognised as iIncome when the syndication
has been completed and the Group retained no part of the loan package for itself or retained a part at the same
effective interest rate for the other participants

Commussions and fees ansing from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of a transachon for a third party,
such as the acquisition of loans, shares or other secunities or the purchase or sale of businesses, which are earned
on execution of the underlying transaction are recorded on its completion Portfolio and other management advisory
and service fees are recognised based on the applicable service contracts, usually on a time-proportion basis Asset
management fees related to investment funds are recorded rateably over the penod the service 15 provided The
same principle 1s applied for wealth management, financial planning and custody services that are continuously
provided over an extended period

Forelgn currency transfation Functional currency of each of the Group's consolidated entities 1s the currency of the
pnmary economic environment, in which the entity operates The Bank's functional currency and the Group's
presentation currency I1s the national currency of the Republic of Azerbaian, Azerbayan Manat ("AZN")

Monetary assets and habilities denominated n foreign currencies are translated into each entity’s functional currency
at the official exchange rate of the NBAR at the respective balance sheet dates Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of the transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities into each
entity’s functional currency at penod-end official exchange rates of the NBAR are recognised n profit or loss
Translation at penod-end rates does not apply to non-monetary items, including equity investments Effects of
exchange rate changes on the farr value of equity securnities are recorded as part of the fair value gan or loss

At 30 June 2006 the prncipal rate of exchange used for translatng foreign currency balances was
USD 1 = AZN 0 8956 (2005 USD 1= AZN 0 9186) Exchange restnctons and controls exist relating to converting
Azerbajam Manats into other currencies At present, the Azerbajan Manat 1s not a freely convertible currency In
most countries outside of the Repubhc of Azerbajan

Offsetting Financial assets and habilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet
only when there 1s a legally enforceable nght to offset the recognised amounts, and there 1s an intention to either
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the habihty simultaneously

Staff costs and related contributions \Wages, salaries, contributons to the Republic of Azerbaijan social insurance
fund, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the penod, in which the
associated services are rendered by the employees of the Group
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4 Crnitical Accounting Estimates, and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and habilibes within the next
financial year Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on management's experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances
Management also makes certain judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of applying the
accounting policies Judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements and estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and
habiities within the next financial year include

Impairment losses on loans and advances The Group regularly reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment
In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the consolidated income statement, the Group
makes judgements as to whether there 1s any observable data indicating that there 1s a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan n
that portfolio This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the
payment status of barrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets
in the group Management uses estmates based on histoncal loss expenence for assets with credit nsk
charactenstics and objective ewidence of mparment simitar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash
flows The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and tming of future cash flows are
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estmates and actual loss expenence

Finance leases and de-recognition of financial assets Management applies judgement to determine if substantially
all the significant nsks and rewards of ownership of financial assets and lease assets are transferred to counterpartes,
in particular which nsks and rewards are the most signfficant and what constitutes substantially all nsks and rewards

Tax legusiation Azerbanan tax, currency and customs legislation 1s subject to varying interpretations Refer to Note
23

Related party transactions In the normal course of business, the Group enters into transactions with its related
parties These transactions are prniced predominantly at market rates Judgement 1s apphed in determuning if
transactions are prniced at market or non-market interest rates, where there 1s no active market for such transactions
The basis for jJudgement s pncing for similar types of transactions with unrelated parties and effective interest rate
analysis

5 Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations
Effect of Adoption of New or Revised Standards. The effect of adoption of the above new or revised standards

and interpretations on the Group’s consolidated financial position at 30 June and on the consolidated results of its
operations for the penods then ended was not sigmificant

6 Cash and Cash Equivalents

30 June 31 December
in thousands of new Azerbagari Manats 2006 2005
Cash on hand 66,182 46,552
Cash balances with the National f Central banks (other than mandatory
reserve deposits) 62,325 159,744
Correspondent accounts and overmight placements with other banks
- The Republic of Azerbaijan 739 907
- Other countries 12,820 51,167
Total cash and cash equivalents 142,066 258,370

Included in cash balances with National / Central banks (other than mandatory reserve deposits) are the balances on
correspondent accounts of the Bank and its subsidiary, IBAR Moscow, with the NBAR and CBRF amounting to
AZN 59,165 thousand (31 December 2005 AZN 155,683 thousand) and AZN 3,160 thousand (31 December 2005
AZN 4,060 thousand), respectively

Overmight placements with non-resident banks Include AZN 9,672 thousand (31 December 2005
AZN 10,129 thousand) placed with foreign banks at an annual interest rate of 3 54% to 3 85% per annum with
matunties in July 2006 (31 December 2005 3 10% to 345% per annum, with matuntes in January 2006}

Geographical, currency, matunty and interest rate analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed n Note 25 The
information on related party balances 1s provided in Note 28
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7 Due from Other Banks

30 June 31 December
In thousands of new Azerbayani Manats 2006 2005
Current term placements with other banks 305,769 47 521
Notes of the National Bank of Azerbajan 15,769 5,875
Overdue placements with other banks 4,681 4,781
Debentures of resident banks 1,320 2,199
Accrued interest Income 1,415 158
Less Provision for impairment of due from other banks (8,445) (6,198)
Total due from other banks 320,509 54,336

Current term placements with other banks Include short-term placements with non-resident banks, which amounted
to AZN 228,497 thousand as at 30 June 2006 with annual interest rates of 2 82% - 5 26% with matunty in July 2006
{31 December 2005 short term USD denominated placements in the amount of AZM 56,596 milion and EUR
denominated placements in the amount of AZM 32,653 millon with several European banks, with matunties from
January to October 2006 and interest rates ranging from 2 0% to 4 3% per annum)

Notes of the NBAR represent short-term government securities issued by the NBAR through the Baku Stock
Exchange purchased by the Group at a discount The notes outstanding as at 30 June 2006 had an average interest
rate of 9 -13 % per annum and matured in July 2006 (31 December 2005 average interest rate of 11 93% per annum
and matured in January-March 2006)

Movements in the provision for mpairment of due from other banks are, as follows

30 June 31 December
in thousands of new Azerbayarn Manats 2006 2005
Provision for impairment of due from other banks at 1 January 6,198 5,632
Prowision for impairment of due from other banks during the year 2,247 816
Due from other banks written off during the year as uncollectible - (250)
Provision for impairment of due from other banks as at reporting date 8,445 6,198

As at 30 June 2006 the estmated far value of due from other banks was AZN 320,509 thousand (31 December
2005 AZN 54,336 thousand) Refer to Note 27

Geographical, currency, matunty and interest rate analyses of due from other banks are disclosed in Note 25 The
information on related party balances is provided in Note 28
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8 Loans and Advances to Customers
30 June 31 December
in thousands of new Azerbayant Manats 2006 2005
Current loans 731,608 703,787
Overdue loans 38,895 44,375
Net investment in finance lease - 11,961
Total loans and advances to customers, gross 770,503 760,123
Less prowvision for loan impairment (87,291) (80,845)
Less provision for uncollectible finance lease receivables - {808)
Total provision for impairment to loans and advances to customers (87,291) {81,653)
Total loans and advances to customers, net 683,212 678,470

Movements in the provision for imparrment of loans and advances to customers and for uncollectible lease
receivables are, as follows

30 June 31 December
In thousands of new Azerbayani Manats 2006 2005
Provision for loan impairment at 1 January 81,853 51,376
Provision for loan impairment duning the period 5,843 35,576
Provision for uncollectible finance lease receivables for the period - 552
Loans and advances to customers written off duning the peniod - (5,915}
Pravision on loans(leases) of subsidiary reclassified as assets
available for sale (1,205) -
Effect of changes in exchange rates - 64
Provision for loan impairment at 30 June 87,291 81,653

Durning the six-month period ended 30 June 2006 no decision was made by the Group to write-off bad loans 1ssued to
customers in previous years (year ended 31 December 2005 AZN 5,915 thousand)

Included in gross amount of total loans and advances to customers as at 30 June 2006, are the loans granted to
twenty companies amounting to AZN 415620 thousand (31 December 2005 eighteen comparies amounting to
AZN 427,608 thousand) and representing 56 6% (31 December 2005 57 4%} of the total loan portfolio of the Group

Included In gross amount of total loans and advances to customers as at 30 June 2006, are the loans granted to
government insttutions and state enterprises of the Republic of Azerbajan amounting to AZN 166,057 thousand
(31 December 2005 AZN 257,662 thousand) and representing 22 6% (31 Decernber 2005 26 7%) of the total loan
portfoho of the Group

Included in total gross amount of loans and advances granted to government institutions and state enterprises of the
Republic of Azerbayan outstanding at 30 June 2008, are the loans to state-owned companies in the amount of AZN
2,238 thousand (31 December 2005 AZN 131,220 thousand ) guaranteed by the government of the Republic of
Azerbajan Included in overdue loans as at 30 June 2006 1s the loan in the total amount of AZN 2,236 thousand (31
December 2005 AZN 4,123 thousand) due from the Azerbayjan State Airines covered by the letter of guarantee of
the Mirustry of Finance of the Republic of Azerbayan on which no provision was recorded in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group No repayment for this loan was made duning the six-month pernod ended 30 June 2006
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8 Loans and Advances to Customers (Continued)

In February 2005, in accordance with the protocol signed in December 2004 between the Group and the Ministry of
Finance of the Republic of Azerbajan, the Group offset bad loans and related accrued interest recevable in the
amount of AZN 1,981 thousand and AZN 547 thousand respectively, 1ssued to the state enterpnises that have been
privatized, agamst dividends payable to the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Azerbajan Refer to Note 24

No such protocols were signed between the Group and the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Azerbalan during
the six-month period ended 30 June 2006

Economi¢ sector nsk concentrations within the customer loan portfohio are as follows

30 June 2006 31 December 2005

in thousands of new Azerbayan Manats Amount % Amount %
Manufacturing 176,578 229 211,098 278
Trade 129,959 169 109,974 145
Construction 125,670 163 72,577 95
Individuals 97,053 128 63,853 84
Railroad and other transportation 96,466 125 103,755 136
State and public organisations* 76,087 99 84,030 111
Alr transportation 39,386 51 96,039 126
Communication 13,499 18 1,576 02
Power produchion and distnbution 8,500 11 2270 03
Net investment in finance lease - - 11,962 16
Other 7.305 09 2,989 04
Total loans and advances to

customers {before impairment) 770,503 1000 760,123 100 0

(*) State and public orgarisations mclude Ministries, Treasury and other state bodies of the Republic of Azerbaijan

As at 30 June 2008, included n loans 1ssued to government bodies 15 an amount of AZN 7,375 thousand
(31 December 2005 AZN 8,131 thousand), which represents non-interest bearing one-day overdrafts on current
accounts of the State Budget of the Republic of Azerbaijan with the Group

Included 1n the total amount of loans to indwviduals as at 30 June 2006 are the outstanding balances drawn on credit
cards 1n the amount of AZN 7,844 thousand (31 December 2005 AZN 7,155 thousand)

As at 30 June 2006 the estimated fair value of Ioans and advances to customers was AZN 683,212 thousand
{31 December 2005 AZN 678,470 thousand) Refer to Note 27

Geographical, currency, matunty and interest rate analyses of loans and advances to customers are disclosed in
Note 25 The information on related party balances is provided in Note 28
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9 Investment Securittes Held to Matunity
30 June 31 December
In thousands of new Azerbayar Manats 2006 2005
Promissory notes of Russian companies and banks 10,367 6,550
Total investment secunties held to matunty 10,367 6,550

As at 30 June 2006 promissory notes represent debt secunties of a Russtan bank and a prvate company (31
December 2005 a Russian bank) with the purchase price of AZN 10,198 in total (31 December 2005 AZN 6,445
thousand) Promussory notes of these organizations are quoted and traded at the Russian Trade System Stock
Exchange in Moscow, Russian Federation The promissory notes outstanding as at 30 June 2006 bear interest rate
of 3 94% and 5 22% per annum (31 December 2005 4 28% per annum} Accrued interest on promissory notes
outstanding as at 31 December 2005 amounted to AZN 169 thousand (31 December 2005 AZN 105 thousand) All
promissory notes and accrued interest outstanding as at 30 June 2006 and 31 December 2005 were subsequently
redeemed at matunty

As at 30 June 2006 the estimated far value of investment secunties held to matunty was AZN 10,367 thousand
(31 December 2005 AZN 6,550 thousand) Refer to Note 27

Geographical, currency, matunty and interest rate analyses of investment securties held to matunty are disclosed in
Note 25

10 Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures
30 June 31 December
In thousands of new Azerbayamn Manats 2006 2005
Investment in Baku Inter-Bank Currency Exchange (BICE) 842 794
Investment in Trans-service 567 569
Total investments in associates and joint ventures 1,409 1,363

The table below summanses the movements in the carrying amount of the Group’s investment in associates and joint
ventures

30 June 2006 31 December 2005
BICE Trans- BICE Trans-
service service
Carrying amount as at 1 January 794 569 864 611
Net share of results of associatefjoint venture after
tax for the penod 48 8 (70} 8
Decrease of the share capital - (10) - (50}
Carrying amount as at 30 June 842 567 794 569

As at 30 June 2006, the Group held 20% interest in BICE and 50% interest in Trans-service Trans-service IS a joint
venture with another Azerbayan company established to operate parking facilities for the purpase of profit-making It
was ncluded in the Group’s consalidated financial statements as investment in joint venture, using equity accounting
methed for the first tme as of 31 December 2003

As at 30 June 2006 share capital of Trans-service decreased by AZN 10 thousand compared with the prior year-end
(31 December 2005 AZN 50 thousand) due to distnbutions of capital to existing shareholders in accordance with
foundation agreement signed between the Group and another shareholder of Trans-Service
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1 Investment Properties

30 June 31 December
In thousands of new Azerbayan: Manats 2006 2005
Investment properties as of 1 January 1,132 1,814
Depreciation (230) (443)
Transfer from/(to) owner occupied premises 14 - {1,125)
Investment properties as at reporting date 802 1,132

Included in the opening balance of investment properties as of 1 Januvary 2005 are the three properties with the net
book value of AZN 1,814 thousand, the ownership of which was obtained by the Group based on court decision as
compensation for loans granted by the Group to domestic banks and legat entites 1n prior years  The management
of the Group has changed its intentions with respect to leasing out one of these properttes and has decided to use
the property to accommodate offices of several of the Group’s companies and Bank's departments Therefore, this
property with a net bock value amounting to AZM 1,125 was reclassified from “investment properties” category to
“buildings” category durning the year ended 31 December 2005

Investment property as at 30 June 2006 includes land 1n Baku in the amount of AZN 688 thousand acquired by the
Group In August 2002 from one of its borrowers as a partial compensation of the loans previously 1ssued to this
borrower by the Group and property in the amount of AZN 214 thousand representing warehouse and furniture
produchon faciity The Group intends to hold this land for capital appreciation purposes

The Group did not classify any operating leases as investment properties The investment properties are recognised
at cost less accumulated depreciation as at 30 June 2006
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12 Premises, Equipment and Intangible Assets

Note Premises Office and Banking Intangible Constru- Total
and lease- computer equipment, assets ctionin
hold equipment furniture, progress
Improve- fixtures,
ments vehicles &
In thousands of new Azerbanan Manats other
Cost at 1 January 2005 25,207 17,158 23,160 2,229 480 68,234
Accumulated depreciation {5,575) (5,692) (5,885) (1,206) - (18,358)
Carrying amount at 1 January 2005 19,632 11,466 17,275 1,023 480 49,876
Additions 691 5705 4,843 5,032 1,666 17,937
Transfers 1,125 (5,094) (1,355) - 6,449 1,125
Disposals (162) (74) (33) - - (269)
Depreciation charge {1,215) (3,701) (5.118) (1,450} - {11,482)
Revaluation 20,754 - - - - 20,754
Effect of translation o presentation currency {531) 7N (6) - (4} (618)
Cost at 31 December 2005 50,658 17,587 26,576 7.261 8,502 110,674
Accumulated deprectation (10,364) (9,362) {10,968) {2,657 - (33,351}
Carrying amount at 31 December 2005 40,294 8,225 15,608 4,604 8,592 77,323
Additions 88 2,400 3,253 2,790 7,411 15,942
Transfers - - (495) - 485 -
Disposals (31) 379 (1,683) (1,738) (5) {3,078)
Depreciation charge 22 {955) {1,896) {3,284) (2,996) - {9,131)
Revaluation (26) - - - - (26)
Effect of translation to presentation currency 280 29 4 - 1 314
Cost at 30 June 2008 55,640 23,761 29,379 4,889 16,494 130,163
Accumulated depreciation {15,990} {14,624) (15,976)  (2,229) - (48,819)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2006 39,650 9,137 13,403 2,660 16,494 81,344

Additions to premises and equipment in 2006 primanly consist of 2,027 kiosk bank service terminals acquired for the
purposes of provision of banking services in the amount of AZN 2,343 thousand, 35 automated teller machines in the
amount of AZN 1,168 thousand (2005 20 ATMs, 100 kiosks bank service terminals), bank’s accounting software in
the amount of AZN 1,985 thousand and vehicles of AZN 497 thousand

included in additons to construction in progress are advance payments in the amount of AZN 7,000 thousand (2005
AZN 1,651 thousand) made by the Group to contractors for the purposes of construction of its new office building on
the residential area purchased by the Group n the centre of Baku

Other additions to premises and equipment represent the continuing iInvestment of the Group into the upgrade of the
Bank's mformation technology infrastructure in its branches and IBAR-Moscow, including purchase of new
information technologies equipment as well as purchase of high capacity servers for the Bank's plastic cards

operations processing subsidiary
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13 Other Assets

30 June 31 December
in thousands of new Azerbalan Manats Note 2006 2005
Plastic cards receivables 4,680 304
Prepaid expenses 3,255 708
Policyholder recewvables 1,336 1,127
Foreclosed buildings 902 472
Restricted cash 657 615
Advances for purchase of intangible assets and equipment 409 755
Deferred tax asset 23 332 420
Amounts In the course of settlement 399 629
Deferred acquisition costs on insurance premiums wntten 323 163
Prepaid thsurance 138 615
Advances for equipment purchased for the purposes of leasing - 3,817
Other 775 510
Total other assets 13,206 10,235

Plastic card receiwvables balance includes, AZN 1,914 thousand receivable from Pension Fund of the Republic of
Azerbaljan representing fees recevable from Pension Fund for plastic card 1ssued to pensioners by the Bank and
AZN 1,848 thousand receivable of the Group's card processing subsidiary

Advances for equipment purchased for purposes of leasing as at 31 December 2005 represented equipment
purchased for leasing purposes for which specific leasing contracts had not yet been identfied as at the reporting
date As the net assets of the leasing subsidiary of the Group 1S reclassified as held for sale as at 30 June 20086,
associaled advances for equipment purchased for the purposes of leasing 1s shown under total assets of disposal
groups in Note 29

Assets held for sale recorded under the "Foreclosed buildings” represent premises, which were previously rented out
to earn rentals, and, therefore, classified as investment properties in previous accounting penods However, since
2005 the management discontinued its rental arrangements with the tenants and has started to actively seek the
buyers of the bullding

Geographical, currency, matunty and interest rate analyses of other assets are disclosed in Note 25 The relevant
information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 28

14 Due to Other Banks

30 June 31 December
In thousands of new Azerbanian Manats 2006 2005
Correspondent accounts and overnight placements of other banks 9,647 8,516
Blocked accounts of resident banks m relation to plastic cards operations 242 262
Total due to other banks 9,889 8,778

Inctuded in the closing balances of correspondent accounts of other banks as at 30 June 2006 i1s foreign bank
deposit placed with IBA at an annual interest rate of 3,95% and with maturity in September, 2006 amounting to AZN
5,690 thousand (31 December 2005 Nil)

As at 30 June 2006 the esttmated far value of due to other banks was AZN 9,889 thousand (31 December 2005
AZN 8,778 thousand} Refer to Note 27

Geographical, currency, matunty and interest rate analyses of due to other banks are disclosed In Note 25 The
relevant information on related party balances 1s disclosed in Note 28
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15 Customer Accounts

30 June 31 December
In thousands of new Azerbayan: Manats 2006 2005
State and public organisations
- Current/settlement accounts 397,502 241,151
- Term deposits 298,364 320,629
- Restneted customer deposits 72,370 52,199
Other legal entities
- Current/seftlement accounts 86,948 107,264
- Term deposits 4,085 6,914
- Restricted customer deposits 9,752 16,287
Individuals
- Current/demand accounts 62,027 47,383
- Term deposits 136,447 116,747
Total customer accounts 1,067,495 908,574

Included in the current and settlement accounts of state and public organizations as at 30 June 2008 are balances on
current interest bearing accounts of state-owned enterpnises and government bodies in the amount of AZN 58,467
thousand (31 December 2005 AZN 11,649 thousand) Interest rates on these accounts vary from 0 5% to 2 5% per
annum (31 December 2005 0 5% to 2 5% per annum}

included in term deposits of state and public organizations are call deposits of a state organization involved In the ol
industry sector of the Republic of Azerbayan In the amount of AZN 295 548 thousand (31 December 2005 AZN
312,256 thousand) and of govermment bodies in the amount of AZN 1,147 thousand (31 December 2005 AZN 1,089
thousand) The average interest rates on these call deposits were 05% and 15% per annum respectively
(31 December 2005 0 5% and 2 0% per annum)

As at 30 June 2006 the Group had significant concentration of customer accounts attracted from a state organization
involved In the oIl industry sector in the total amount of AZN 486,208 thousand or 45 5% of total customer accounts
(31 December 2005 AZN 423,444 thousand or 46 6%, respectively)

Restricted customer deposits amounting to AZN 82,122 thousand as at 30 June 2008 (31 December 2005 AZN
68,486 thousand) represent balances on customer accounts held by the Group as collateral for irrevocable
commitments under import letters of credit and guarantees 1ssued by the Group on behalf of its customers The
information on letters of credit and guarantees outstanding as at 30 June 2006 and 2005 1s disclosed in Note 26

Economic sector concentrations within customer accounts are, as follows

30 June % 31 December %

In thousands of new Azerbayam Manats 2006 2005

Energy 587,499 550 502,581 653
Individuals 197,942 185 164,131 180
State and public organisations, except energy sector 102,970 96 38,883 43
Trade and services 51,858 49 48,816 54
Manufacturing 33,562 31 69,922 77
Transportation and communication 33,080 31 7,371 08
Construction 19,887 19 23,303 28
Other 40,697 39 53,567 59
Total customer accounts 1,067,495 1000 908,574 100 0

(*) State and public orgamisations compnse Ministnies, Treasury, municipalities and other state bodies of the Republic
of Azerbajan

As at 30 June 2006 the estimated fair value of customer accounts was AZN 1,087,495 thousand (31 December 2005
AZN 908,574 thousand) Refer to Note 27

Geographical, currency, matunty and interest rate analyses of customer accounts are disclosed in Note 25 The
information on related party balances i1s disclosed in Note 28
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16 Debt Secunties in Issue

30 June 31 December
In thousands of new Azerbayam Manats 2006 2005
Debentures 24,251 24,897
Deposit certificates 14,279 17,290
Total debt securities In 1Issue 38,530 42187

Dunng the sx-month penod ended 30 June 2006 the Group incurred interest expense on the above debentures in
the amount of AZN 1,362 thousand (six-month penod ended 30 June 2005 AZN 1,181 thousand) recorded In the
consclidated statement of mecome of the Group Refer to Note 20

Certificates of deposit bear interest rate of 9 0% per annum (2005 9 0%) and have matunty of 3 years These
certificates of deposit bear a condition that interest 1s paid only If certificates are clamed for repayment after 365
calendar days from their respective issue dates

As at 30 June 2006 the estimated far value of debt securites in 1ssue was AZN 38,530 thousand {31 December
2005 AZN 42,187 thousand) Refer to Note 27

Geographical, currency, matunty and interest rate analyses of debt secunties in 1ssue are disclosed in Note 25

17 Other Borrowed Funds

30 June 31 December
In thousands of new Azerbayam Manats 2006 2005
Syndtcated borrowing 51,819 52,414
Black Sea Trade and Development Bank (BSTDB) 9,885 7,535
Islamic Development Corporation (IDC) 4,039 2,132
Societe Generale 201 -
Total other borrowed funds 66,044 62,081

Funds attracted under syndicated borrowing as at 31 December 2005 represent the balance of funds aftracted under
syndicated borrowing agreement signed 19 August 2005 with foreign banks led by one of major German banks in the
total amount of USD 56,000,000 for the Group's financing of large government projects The borrowing faciity bears
annual interest rate of LIBOR plus 2% and matures on 19 August 2006 Qutstanding principal amount and accrued
interest payable on this borrowing were fully repaid on 18 August 2006

On 21 January 2002 the Group signed an agreement with the Black Sea Trade and Development Bank (registered in
Thessaloniki, Greece) for a multiple buyer revolving credit facility in the amount of USD 4,000 thousand The amount
drawn on this revolving faciity net of repayments as at 30 June 2006 amounted to AZN 3,997 thousand or USD
4,463 thousand (31 December 2005 AZN 2,008 thousand or USD 2,187 thousand) and 1s used for financing of
various projects related to manufactunng and transportation sectors of the Repubhc of Azerbayan The borrowing
facility bears annual interest rate of LIBOR plus 5%

On 22 November 2002 the Bank obtained additional credit facility in the amount of USD 2,800 thousand from the
Black Sea Trade and Development Bank for the purposes of financing of vanous Azerbayan projects in electncity
distrbution and manufacturing sectors Each disbursement of the facility 1s repayable in 6 equal semi-annual
instaliments commencing six months after the value date of the disbursement The interest rate for the loan 1s LIBOR
plus 4% per annum Amounts drawn down on this credit line net of repayments as at 30 June 2006 account for nil
{31 December 2605 m)
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17 Other Borrowed Funds (Continued)

Cn 21 June 2005 the Group signed a Loan Agreement with the Black Sea Trade and Development Bark for the
purpose of funding construction of glass factory in Azerbayan at the amount of AZN 5,442 thousand or EUR 5,000
thousand The interest rate for the loan 1s LIBOR plus 5% per annum Loan will be repaid in semi-annual instalments,
commencing 18 months after the date of first disbursement and ending on the expiry of 60 months after the date of
first disbursement

On 12 Apnl 2004 the Group signed up for a Line of Financing Agreement with the Islamic Development Corporation
(a member of Islamic Development Bank Group, an international financial institution with head-quarters in Jeddah,
Saud Arabia) for the credit ine of USD 4,500 thousand for the penod of 7 years at SWAP plus 5% per annum for
financing of vanous investment projects in the Republic of Azerbayan As at 30 June 2006 the amount drawn down
on this credit ine comprised AZN 3,988 thousand or USD 4,453 thousand (31 December 2005 AZN 2,088 thousand
or USD 2,274 thousand) and was used for the purposes of financing of a project in manufactunng sector of
Azerbalan

As 30 June 2006 the estimated far value of other borrowed funds was AZN 68,044 thousand (31 December 2005
AZN 62,081 thousand) Refer to Note 27 Geographical, currency, matunty and interest rate analysis of other
borrowed funds are disclosed in Note 25

18 Other Liabilities

Note 30 June 31 December
In thousands of new Azerbayant Manats 2006 2005
Itemns in ¢course of settlement 43,091 26,071
Provision for letters of guarantee 22, 26 7,051 879
Dividends payable to shareholders 24 6,577 2,400
Taxes payable 4913 2,825
Deferred revenue on plastic cards operations 3785 1,515
Insurance reserves 2,285 1,876
Plastic: cards creditors 1,138 -
Insurance premiums and broker commissions payable 1,063 513
Deferred ceding commissions on insurance operations 75 74
Trade creditors 42 1,997
Payable for software - 1,080
Payable on intangibles of Inter Club - 269
Other habihties 467 754
Total other liabilities 70,487 40,253

Items in course of settlement include payable to Central Treasury (“Central Treasury”) Department of the Ministry of
Finance of the Republic of Azerbayan amounting to AZN 22,848 thousand representing the funds collected by the
Bank on behalf of Central Treasury which are subsequently transferred to Central Treasury's bank accounts (31
December 2005 AZN 25,773) This balance was debited from the current accounts of Bank customers at the last
day of the period and transferred to the account of Central Treasury in NBAR

Taxes payable compnsed income tax payables by the companies of the Group as at 30 June 2006 in the amount of
AZN 4,913 thousand

Deferred revenue on plastic cards operations represents uneamed portion of revenue related to fees charged for
annual maintenance of plastic cards The above fee 1s charged upon issuance of cards and amortized over their
respective term  Included in deferred revenue on plastic cards operations as at 30 June 2006 1s AZN 3,785 thousand
(31 December 2005 AZN 628 thousand) representing deferral of revenue arnsing from servicing of plastic cards
issued by the Bank to Azerbaijan: pensioners in accordance with the contract signed by the Bank with the State
Social Secunty Funds of the Republic of Azerbayan on 23 January 2004 and salary card as well Refer to Notes 13
and 21
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19 Share Capital

Authonised, 1ssued and paid-in share capital of the Group as at 30 June 2006 and as at 31 December 2005 1s, as
follows

Number of outstanding shares Ordmary
In thousands of new Azerbayan Manats [in thousands] shares
At 1 January 2005 100,000 100,000
New shares i1ssued 24,100 24 100
At 31 December 2005 124,100 124,100
New shares 1ssued 41,670 41,670
At 30 June 2006 165,770 165,770

The par value of the Bank's ssued registered share capital 15 AZN 33,154 thousand (31 December 2005
AZN 24,800 thousand) At 30 June 20086, all of the Bank’s outstanding shares were authonsed, 1ssued and fully paid
in

All ordinary shares have a nominal value of AZN 0 2 per share {2005 AZN 0 2 per share) and rank equally Each
share carnes one vote

As at 30 June 2006 the Group's emplo’yees hold 5 74% of the total share capital of the Group, which amounts to
AZN 2,298 thousand (31 December 2005 4 71% and AZN 1,169 thousand respectively) Refer to Note 28

20 Interest Income and Expense

Six-Month Six-Month
Penod Ended Period Ended
In thousands of new Azerbayam Manats 30 June 2006 30 June 2005
Interest income
Loans and advances o customers 44,441 33,088
Due from other banks and correspondent accounts 8,435 3,343
Interest iIncome on Investment securities 614 524
Total interest income 53,490 36,953
Interest expense
Savings deposits of Individuals and deposit certificates {6,515, (8,713)
Term deposits of legal entities (4,434, (2,294)
Deposits from banks and other borrowed funds (2,584, (267)
Debentures {1,362, {1,181)
Total interest expense {14,895) (9,457)
Net interest iIncome 38,595 27,496
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21 Fee and Commission Income and Expense

Six-Month Six-Month

Period Ended Period Ended
in thousands of new Azerbayary Manats 30 June 2008 30 June 2005
Fee and commission income
- Plastic cards operations 7,077 4764
- Transactions with fareign currencies and secunties 5,393 6,499
- Cash transactions 4 656 3,847
- Settlement transactions 3,344 3,214
- Letters of credit 1ssued 874 924
- Guarantees 1ssued 238 371
- Servicing intermediary loans 84 212
- Other 583 402
Total fee and commission income 22,247 20,233
Fee and commission expense
- Cash transactions (886) (76)
- Plastic cards operations {868) (524)
- Settlement transactions {596) (370)
- Policy acquisition costs on insurance operations (210) (174)
- Transactions with foreign currencies and secuntes - (37}
- Other (18) (25)
Total fee and commission expense (2,576) (1,2086)
Net fee and commission Income 19,671 19,027

Included in fees and commission income on plastic cards operations 18 AZN 649 thousand (six-month period ended
30 June 2005 AZN 1,503 thousand) representing commission Income ansing from servicing plastc cards 1ssued by
the Group to Azerbaijani pensioners in accordance with the contract signed on 23 January 2004 with the State Social
Secunty Fund of the Republic of Azerbajan These plastic cards were 1ssued i the context of the project for
implementation of the retrement benefits payment system through plastic cards in the biggest local cities arranged by
the Group under the abovementioned contract with the State Social Secunty Fund of the Republc of Azerbayan

Refer to Note 18

The relevant information on related party balances 1s disclosed in Note 28
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22 Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Six-Month Six-Month
Period Ended Penod Ended
In thousands of new Azerbayarm Manats Note 30 June 2006 30 June 2005
Staff costs 10,796 7,309
Prowvision for letters of credit and guarantee 6,239 91
Depreciation of premises and squipment 12 6,135 4,707
Amortisation of software and other intangible assets 12 2,996 381
Advertising and marketing services 1,784 482
Rent 1,359 1,006
Customs duties and other taxes other than on income 1,020 529
Transportation of valuables 976 686
Communication 799 671
Chanty and financial aid 699 206
Traning 591 -
Premises, equipment and investment property mamtenance 529 652
Stationery, books, printing and other supplies 509 365
External labor and guarding 442 393
Software maintenance 337 -
Business tnp 232 252
Property insurance 196 -
Sport inventory and football field maintenance for “Inter”
professional football club 140 230
Other 3.117 1,931
Total administrative and other operating expenses 38,896 19,881

Included In staff costs are obligatory payments to the Social Security Fund and other funds of the Republic of
Azerbayan, bonuses and other benefits provided by the Group to its employees

Staff costs include payrolt and other employee benefits of the Bank in the amount of AZN 8,750 thousand (six-month
penod ended 30 June 2005 AZN 6,235 thousand), IBAR Moscow of AZN 990 thousand (six-month period ended 30
June 2005 AZN 364 thousand), insurance subsidiary of AZN 379 thousand (six-month period ended 30 June 2005
234 thousand), Azenicard Limited of AZN 290 thousand (six-month penod ended 30 June 2005 AZN 205 thousand),
leasing subsichary of AZN 33 thousand (six-month pencd ended 30 June 2005 AZN 25 thousand) and “Inter”
professional football club of AZN 354 thousand (six-month penod ended 30 June 2005 AZN 46 thousand)

Rental expenses are related to operating lease of the Group's branch buildings in Baku and in the regions of the
Republic of Azerbayan, exchange offices and costs asscciated with ATMs installed in department stores, hotels, etc

The relevant information on related party balances i1s disclosed in Note 28
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23 Income Taxes

Income tax expense compnses the following

Six-Month Year Ended Six-Month

Penod Ended 31 December 2005 Perniod Ended

in thousands of new Azerbatiaru Manats 30 June 2006 30 June 2005
Current tax (6,547) (7,747) (3,788)
Deferred tax (2e1) (981) (81)
Income tax expense for the penod {(6,838) (8,728) (3,869)

The income tax rate applicable to the majonity of the Group's income I1s 22% as at 30 June 2006 (31 December 2005
24%) Effective from 1 January 2004, the statutory tax rate of the Republic of Azerbajan was reduced from 25% to
24% Starting from 1 January 2006, the statutory tax rate was further reduced from 24% to 22% The income tax
rate applicable to the operations of IBAR Moscow 1s 24% A 24% statutory income tax rate for IBAR Moscow was
enacted in August 2001, effectively applicable from 1 January 2002

A reconciiation between the expected and the actual taxation charge 1s provided below

Six-Month Year Ended Six-Month
Period Ended 31 December Period Ended

In thousands of new Azerbayam Manats 30 June 2006 2005 30 June 2005
IFRS profit before tax 21,41¢ 29,058 12,217
Theoretical tax charge at statutory rate (2006 22%, 2005 24%} (4,712 {6,974) (2,932)

Tax effect of tems which are not deductible
or assessable for taxation purposes

- Non deductible expenses (1,046 (1,056) (424)
- Unrecogmized tax loss carry forwards (1,101 (1,050) (523)
- Effect of change in tax rates 439 -
Other non-temporary differences 2 (87) 10
Income tax expense for the penod (6,838 (8,728) {3,869}

Starting from the financial year ended 31 December 2001 fiscal penods remains open to review by the authonties in
respect of taxes for three calendar years preceding the year of review This clause of the Tax Code of the Repubiic
of Azerbaian 1s apphed prospectively, |1 e does not apply to the financial years prior to 2001 Under certain legislative
circumstances reviews may cover longer pernods

29




The International Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan
Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements — 30 June 2006

23 Income Taxes {Continued)

Differences between IFRS and Azerbayam and Russizn (for IBAR Moscow) statutory taxation regulations give rise to
temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases The tax effect of the movements in these temporary differences is detalled below and 1s recorded at the
rate of 22% (2005 24%)

31 Reclassified  Charged/ 30 June

December as DTA/DTL  (credited) 2006
2005 of disposal to profitor
groups loss

In thousands of new Azerbanani Manats Note
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences
Losses on assets and habilities at non-market rates 1,621 - {124) 1,497
Deferred revenue recognition 577 - 189 766
Provision for letters of credit and guarantees 168 - {37) 131
Loan imparment in subsidiaries 84 - - B4
Tax loss carry forward for subsidiaries 84 - - 84
Difference in depreciation rate of premises and -
equipment and investment property 180 48 238
Recognition of expenses incurred, but recorded as -
other assets 57 203 2580
Difference in amortization rates of intangibles 55 - 33 88
Accruals and other a7 - 34 131
Gross deferred tax asset 2,933 - 346 3,279
Deferred tax asset of disposal groups
reclassified 29 - {455) - (455)
Tax effect of taxable temporary differences
Loan impairment provision (5,535) - (773) (6,308)
Difference in depreciation rates of fixed assets {1,446) - - (1,448)
Movement of the revaluation of premises (5,103) - - (5,103)
Revenue accruals (82) - (41) (123)
Effect of consolidation of associates (136) - - (136)
Difference In amortization rates (47) - - 47)
Deferral of prepad expenses (48) - {19) (85)
Other 51) - 196 145
Gross deferred tax liability {12,446} - {637) {13,083)
Deferred tax hahility of disposal groups
reclassified 29 - 39 - a9
Total net deferred tax hability (9,513) (416) {291) {10,220}

In the context of the Group’s current structure, tax losses and current tax assets of different group companies may
not be offset against current tax llabilities and taxable profits of other group companies and, accordingly, taxes may
accrue even where there 1s a consolidated tax loss Therefore, deferred tax assets and llabilities are offset only when
they relate to the same taxable entity
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23 Income Taxes (Continued)

As at 31 December 2005 the temporary differences giving nse to the deferred tax assets and iabilities are, as follows

31 December Movement 30 June Movement 31December
In thousands of new Azerbaiam Manats 2004 2005 2005
Tax effect of deductible temporary
differences
Losses on assets and liabilities at
non-market rates 1,869 (163) 1,706 (85} 1,621
Deferred revenue recognition 236 452 688 {111) 577
Tax loss carry forward for “Inter”
professional football club 209 523 732 365 1,097
Prowvision for letters of credit and
guarantees 185 22 207 (39) 168
Loan mparment in subsidianes 92 49 141 (57) 84
Tax loss carry forward for
Azerileasing 92 48 140 (56} 84
Difference in depreciation rate of fixed
assets
209 20 229 (39) 190
Recognition of expenses incurred, but
recorded as other assets 63 - 63 (6) 57
Difference in amortization rates of
intangibles 60 23 83 (28) 55
Accruals and other 107 138 245 {148) g7
Gross deferred tax asset 3122 1,112 4,234 (204) 4,030
Less non-recorded deferred tax asset (209) (523) (732) (365) (1,087)
Net deferred tax asset 2,913 589 3,502 (569) 2,933
Tax effect of taxable temporary
differences
Provision for mpairment of loans (4,176) (166) {4,342) {1,193) (5,535)
Difference in depreciation rates of
fixed assets (1,590) - {1,590) 144 (1,446)
Recognition of intangible assets
recorded as expenses - (342) (342) 342 -
Movement of the revaluation of
premises (698) 218 (480) (4,623) (5,103)
Revenue accruals (92) (160) (252) 170 (82)
Effect of consolidation of associates (164) (2) (1686) 30 (136)
Difference in amortization rates (52) - (52) 5 (47)
Deferral of prepaid expenses (50) - (50) 4 (46)
Other (56) - (56) 5 {51)
Gross deferred tax hability (6,878) (452) (7,330} (5,116) {12,448}
Total net deferred tax hability (3,965) 137 {3,828) (5,685) (9,513)
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23 Income Taxes (Continued)

The increase in net deferred tax hability for the year ended 31 December 2005 in the amount of AZN 5,548 thousand
{for 6-month penod ended 30 June 2005 decrease In the amount of AZN 137 thousand) includes AZN 4,567
thousand charge (for 6-month period ended 30 June 2005 AZN 218 thousand credit) to revaluation surplus on
premises and AZN S81 thousand charge (for 6-month penod ended 30 June 2005 AZN 81 thousand charge) to
consolidated income tax expense

In the table above deferred tax assets and habilities of the Group are shown on a net basis  Where, in the context of
the Group’s current structure, deferred tax liabilthes and tax assets of different companies may not be offset against
each other, they are shown separately The composition of the total net deferred tax hability of the Group 1s, as
follows

in thousands of new Azerbayam Manats 30 June 2006 31 December 2005 30 June 2005

Total net deferred tax assets of subsidianes {Note 13) 332 420 685
Total net deferred tax lhiability of the parent Bank (10,552) {9,933) (4,517
Total net deferred tax liability of the Group (10,220) {9,513} {3,828)

The net deferred tax asset of the subsidianes represents income taxes recoverable through future revenues and I1s
recorded within other assets in the consolidated balance sheet Deferred income tax assets are recorded for tax loss
carry forwards only to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit 1s probable

24 Dividends

Six-month Six-month

penod ended period ended

In thousands of new Azerbayam Manats 30 June 2006 30 June 2005
Dividends payable at 1 January 2,400 3,474
Dividends declared during the pernod 6,879 4,800
Dividends paid duning the period (2,702) (5,874)
Dividends payable at 30 June 6,577 2,400

Dividends are declared at quarter-ends and paid in the following quarter to the shareholders of the Bank tn
accordance with ther shareholding percentage in the i1ssued and paid share capital as at the end of the quarter
Included in dividends declared as at 30 June 20086 are dividends declared for the first and second quarters of 2006 in
the amount of AZN 3,104 and AZN 3,775, respectively
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The nsk management funchion within the Group 1s carred out in respect of financial nsks (credit, market,
geographical, currency, hquidity and mterest rate), operational nsks and legal nsks The prnmary objectives of the
financial nsk management function are to estabhish risk {imits, and then ensure that exposure to risks stays within
these imits The operational and legal nsk management functions are intended to ensure proper functioning of
Internal policies and procedures to minimise operational and legal nsks

Credrt nsk The Group takes on exposure to credit nsk which is the nsk that a counterparty will be unable to pay all
amounts in full when due The Group structures the levels of credit nsk it undertakes by placing imits on the amount
of nisk accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to geographical and industry segments
Such nsks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review Limits on the level of
credit nsk by preduct, borrower and industry sector are approved regularly by the Board of Directors

The exposure to any one borrower including banks and brokers 1s further restricted by sub-hmits coverning on and off-
balance sheet exposures and daily delivery nsk limits in relation to trading items such as forward foreign exchange
contracts Actual exposures against imits are monitored daily

Exposure to credit nsk 1s managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to
meet interest and pnincipal repayment obligabons and by changing these lending imits where appropnate Exposure
to credit nsk 1s also managed, n part, by obtaining collateral and comporate and personat guarantees

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk 1s primarily reflected in the carrying amounts of financial assets on the
consolidated balance sheet The impact of possible netting of assets and habiliies to reduce potental credit exposure
1s not significant

Credit nsk for off-balance sheet financial instruments 1s defined as the possibility of sustaining a loss as a result of
another party to a financial instrument failing to perform in accordance with the terms of the contract The Group uses
the same credit policties in making conditional obligations as it does for on-balance sheet financial instruments
through established credit approvals, nsk control imits and monitoning procedures
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Market sk The Group takes on exposure to market nsks Market nsks anse from open positions n interest rate,
currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements The Board of
Directors sets mits on the value of risk that may be accepted, which is monitored on a daily basis However, the use
of this approach does not prevent losses outside of these imits in the event of more significant market movements

Geographical risk The geographical concentration of the Group's assets and liabiities at 30 June 2006 s set out
below

Republic of QOECD Non OECD Total

In thousands of new Azerbayan Manats Azerbaijan
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 122,455 12,489 7,122 142,066
Mandatory cash balances with the NBAR 84,360 - 1,152 85,512
Due from other banks 44,297 251,441 24,771 320,509
Loans and advances to customers 626,735 - 56,477 683,212
Investment secunties available for sale 128 - - 128
Investment secunties held to maturity - - 10,367 10,367
Investment in associates and joint ventures 1,409 - - 1,409
Goodwill on acguisition of a subsidiary 1,332 - - 1,332
Premises, equipment, intangibles and investment

properties 73,903 - 8,343 82,246
Other assets 11,393 786 1,027 13,206
Assets of disposal groups 24,939 - - 24,939
Total assets 990,951 264,716 109,259 1,364,926
Liabilities
Due to other banks 2,355 5,691 1,843 9,889
Customer accounts 1,052,903 - 14,592 1,067,495
Debt secunties in issue 38,530 - - 38,530
Other borrowed funds - 52,001 4,043 66,044
Other habilities 68,822 763 902 70,487
Deferred tax hability 9,879 - 673 10,552
Liabilities of disposal group 1,917 - - 1,917
Total habilities 1,174,406 68,455 22,053 1,264,914
Net balance sheet position (183455) 196,261 87,206 100,012
Credit related commitments {1,068,777) - {6,818) (1,075,595)
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25 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

The geographical concentration of the Group’s assets and llabiities at 31 Decamber 2005 is set out below

Republic of OECD Non OECD Total

in thousands of new Azerbayant Manats Azerbaijan
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 200,729 49,589 8,052 258,370
Mandatory cash balances with the NBAR 65,096 - 845 65,941
Due from other banks 26,068 8,168 20,100 54,336
Loans and advances to customers 661,543 - 16,927 678,470
Investment secunties available for sale 128 - - 128
Investment secunties held to maturity - - 6,550 6,550
Investment in associates and joint ventures 1,363 - - 1,363
Goodwill on acquisition of a subsidiary 1,460 - - 1,480
Premises, equipment, intangibles and investment

properties 70,114 - 8,341 78,455
Other assets 5,055 3,592 1,589 10,236
Total assets 1,031,556 61,349 62,404 1,155,309
Liabilities
Due to other banks 3,372 - 5,406 8,778
Customer accounts 902,435 - 6,139 908,574
Debt securities in issue 42,187 - - 42,187
Other borrowed funds 59,951 - 2,130 62,081
Other Liabilities 38,733 - 1,620 40,253
Deferred tax hability 9,169 - 764 9,933
Total habilities 1,055,847 - 15,959 1,071,806
Net balance sheet position (24,291) 61,349 46,445 83,503
Credit related commitments (364,934) (209,040) {87,867) (661,841)

Assets, labites and credit related commitments have generally been based on the country, in which counterparty is
located Cash on hand and prermises and equipment have been allocated based on the country, in which they are

physically held
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Currency nsk The Group takes on exposure to effects of fluctuations i the prevailing foreign currency exchange
rates on its financial position and cash flows The Board of Directors sets imits on the level of exposure by currency
and in total for both overrught and intra-day positions, which are monitored dally The table below summarises the
Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate nsk at 30 June 2006

In thousands of new Azerbaitani Manats AZN UsbhD Euro Qther Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 93,791 40,188 2,154 5,833 142,066
Mandatory cash balances with the NBAR - 84,3680 - 1,152 85,512
Due from other banks 8,660 290,283 19,348 2,218 320,509
Loans and advances to customers 140,916 502,911 31,218 B,167 683,212
Investment secunties available for sale 128 - - - 128
Investment secunties held to matunty - 4,598 5,769 - 10,367
Investment In associates and joint ventures 1,409 - - - 1,408
Goodwill on acquisiion of a subsidiary 1,332 - - - 1,332
Premises, eguipment, intangibles and investment

properties 73,903 - - 8,343 82,246
Other assets 6,649 5,379 574 804 13,206
Assets of disposal groups 24,939 - - - 24,939
Total assets 351,727 927,719 59,063 26,417 1,364,926
Liabilities
Due to other banks 1,506 2,364 5,740 279 9,888
Customer accounts 153,126 861,547 44,243 8,579 1,067,495
Debt securities in i1ssue 4 38,526 - - 38,530
Other borrowed funds - 58,375 6,669 - 66,044
Other liabilities 43,075 24918 1,880 614 70,487
Deferred tax liability 9,879 - - 673 10,552
Liabilities of disposal groups 1,917 - - - 1,917
Total habilities 209,507 986,730 58,532 10,145 1,264,914
Net balance sheet position 142,220 (59,011) 531 16,272 100,012
Credit related commitments (Note 26) (36,832) (531,839) (504,816) (2,108) (1,075,595)
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At 31 December 2005, the Group had the following positions in currencies

in thousands of new Azerbayarm Manats AZN UuspD Euro Other Total
Assets
Cash and cash equvalents 63,272 180,630 6,032 8,436 258,370
Mandatory cash balances with the NBAR - 65,096 - 845 65,941
Due from other banks 5,114 41,160 6,531 1,531 54,336
Loans and advances to customers 155,182 491,020 28,446 3,822 678,470
Investment secunties avaiable for sale 128 - - - 128
Investment securihies held to matunty - 8,550 - - 6,550
Investment in associates and joint ventures 1,363 - - - 1,363
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries 1,460 - - - 1,460
Premises, equipment, intangibles and

Investment properties 70,114 - - 8,341 78,455
Other assets 6,261 2,821 630 524 10,236
Total assets 302,894 787,277 41,639 23,499 1,155,309
Liabilities
Due to other banks 58 4,325 162 4,233 8,778
Customer accounts 135,992 732,805 34662 5115 908,574
Debt securities in 1ssue 19 42,168 - - 42,187
Other borrowed funds - 56,528 5,553 - 62,081
Other habilities 35,830 2,994 246 1,183 40,253
Deferred tax labiity 9,169 - - 764 8,933
Total labilities 181,068 838,820 40,623 11,295 1,071,808
Net balance sheet position 121,826 (51,543) 1,016 12,204 83,503
Credit related commitments (Note 26) (14,836)  (534,187) (111,087} (1,931) {661,841)

The Group has extended loans and advances denominated in foreign currencies Depending on the revenue stream
of the borrower, the appreciation of foreign currencies aganst the Azerbajam Manat may adversely affect the
borrowers’ repayment abilty and, therefore, increases the likelihood of future loan losses

Liquidity nsk. Liquidity nsk 1s defined as the nsk when the matunty of assets and Labilities does not match The
Group 1s exposed to dally calls on its avallable cash resources from overnight deposits, current accounts, maturing
deposits, loan draw-downs, guarantees and from margin and other calls on cash settled dervative instruments The
Group does not maintain cash resources to meet all of these needs as expernence shows that a mintmum level of
reinvestment of maturing funds can be predicted with a huigh level of certainty Liquidity nsk s managed by [the
Asset/Liability Committee] of the Group

The table below shows assets and liabibes at 30 June 2006 by their remaming contractual matunty, unless there is
evidence that any of the assets are impaired and will be settled after their contractual matunty dates, in which case
the expected date of settlement of the assets 1s used Some of the assets and habihes, however, may be of a
longer-term nature, for example, loans are frequently renewed and accordingly short term loans can have a longer
term duration
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Overdue liabilities, such as term deposits not withdrawn by the Group’s customers, are classified within the “demand
and less than 1 month” column Overdue assets are allocated based on therr expected matunty [The entire portfolio
of trading secunities is classified within demand and less than one month based on management's assessment of
portfolio’s realisability and therr view that it is a farer portrayal of the Group's liquidity position | Certain assets, for
example avallable for sale equity securties and non-current assets held for sale (or disposal groups), are assumed o
mature on the expected date on which the assets will be realised Mandatory cash balances with the NBAR are
included within demand and less than one month as the requirement 1s to mantan as a reserve a specified
percentage of certain habilities which are also included within this category

The liquidity position of the Group at 30 June 2006 I1s set out below

Demand From1to Frométo Over Overdue/ Total
and less 6 months 12 months 12 months g, gtated
than maturity
in thousands of new Azerbayan Manats 1 month
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 142,066 - - - - 142,066
Mandatory cash balances with the NBAR 85,512 - - - - 85,512
Due from other banks 243,208 60,177 10,387 - 6,647 320,509
Loans and advances to customers 31,654 215377 199,417 174,557 62,207 683,212
Investment secunties available for sale 128 - - - - 128
tnvestment secunties held to maturity - 10,367 - - - 10,367
Investment in associates and joint ventures - - - - 1,409 1,409
Goodwill on acquisition of a subsidiary - - - - 1,332 1,332
Premises, equipment, intangtbles and
investment properties - - - - 82,246 82,246
Other assets 6,108 1,671 4958 338 131 13,206
Assets of disposal groups - 24 939 - - - 24,938
Total assets 508,766 312,531 214762 174,895 153,972 1,364,926
Liabilities
Due to other banks 3,957 5735 197 - - 9,889
Customer accounts 645,840 41,516 332,762 47,377 1,067,495
Debt secunties in 1ssue 119 - - 38,411 - 38,530
QOther borrowed funds 51,499 - - 14,545 - 66,044
Qther iabibties 53,853 12,631 3,482 66 455 70,487
Deferred tax habilty - - - 10,552 - 10,552
Liabilihes of disposal groups - 1,917 - - - 1,917
Total llabihities 755,268 61,799 336,441 110,951 455 1,264,914
Net hquidity gap (246,502) 250,732 (121,679) 63,944 153,517 100,012
Cumulative hquidity gap at
30 June 2006 (246,502) 4,230 (117,449) (53,505} 100,012
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The hquidity position of the Group at 31 December 2005 1s set out below

Demand From1to From6to Over Overdue/ Total
andless 6months 92 months 12 months Ng stated
than maturity

In thousands of new Azerbayam Manats 1 month
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 258,370 - - - - 258370
Mandatory cash balances with the NBAR 65,941 - - - - 65,941
Due from other banks 20,484 6,058 16,708 11,085 - 54,336
Loans and advances to customers 75,989 56,652 209,444 263,925 72,460 678470
Investment secunties available for sale 128 - - - - 128
Investment secunties held to maturity - 6,550 - - - 6,550
Investment in associates and joint ventures - - - - 1,363 1,363
Goodwill on acquisition of a subsidiary - - - - 1,460 1,460
Premises, equipment, intangibles and

investment properties - - - - 78,455 78,455
Other assets 3,478 4,121 867 - 1,770 10,236
Total assets 424 390 73,382 227,019 275,010 155,508 1,155,309
Liabilities
Due to other banks 8,534 161 83 - - 8778
Customer accounts 473,669 46,261 30,885 357,759 - 808,574
Debt secunties in 1ssue 843 - - 41,344 - 42,187
Other borrowed funds 7.135 - 52,348 2,598 - 62,081
Other liabilities 31,473 2,113 982 - 5,685 40,253
Deferred tax hability - - - 9,933 - 9,933
Total habilities 521,654 48,535 84,298 411,634 5,685 1,071,806
Net hiquidity gap (97,264) 24,847 142,721 (136,624) 149,823 83,503
Cumulative liquidity gap at

31 December 2005 {97,264) (72,417) 70,304 (66,320} 83,503

Mandatory cash balances with the NBAR and the CBRF are included within demand and less than one month as the
majorty of habilities, to which these balances relate, are also included within this category

The matching and/or controlled mismatching of the matuntes and interest rates of assets and labilites 1s
fundamental to the management of the Group It 1s unusual for banks ever to be completely matched since business
transacted i1s often of an uncertain term and of different types An unmatched position potentally enhances
profitability, but can also increase the nsk of losses The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace,
at an acceptable cost, interest-beanng labiities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the
Group and its exposure to changes In interest and exchange rates

Management believes that in spite of a substantial portion of customer accounts being on demand, diversification of
these deposits by number and type of depositors, and the past experience of the Group would indicate that these
customer accounts provide a long-tern and stable source of funding for the Group
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Customer accounts are classified in the above analysis based on contractual matunties However, In accordance with
Azerbalan Civil Code, individuals have a nght to withdraw their deposits prior to matunty if they forfert their right to
accrued interest

Liquidity requirements to support calls under guarantees and standby letters of credit are considerably less than the
amount of the commitment because the Group does not generally expect the third party to draw funds under the
agreement The total outstanding contractual amount of commitments to extend credit does not necessanly represent
future cash requirements, since many of these commitments will expire or terminate without being funded

Interest rate risk The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations In the prevailing levels of market
interest rates on its financial positton and cash flows Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but
may reduce or create losses In the event that unexpecied movements anse The table below summanses the
Group's exposure to interest rate nsks at 30 June 2006 Included in the table are the Group’s assets and habiliies at
carrying amounts, categonsed by the earlier of contractual repricing or matunty dates

Demandand From1to From&to More than Non- Total
less than 6 months 12 months 1year monetary

In thousands of new Azerbayan: Manats 1 month
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 142,066 - - - - 142,066
Mandatory cash balances with the NBAR 85512 - - - - 85512
Due from other banks 241,882 60,178 17,034 - 1,415 320,509
Loans and advances to customers 93,860 215377 199,417 174,558 - 683,212
Investment secunties avalable for sale - - - - 128 128
Investment secunties held to matunty - 10,367 - - - 10,367
Investment In associates and joint ventures - - - - 1,408 1,409
Goodwill on acgquisition of a subsidiary - - - - 1,332 1,332
Premises, equipment, intangibles and -

investment properties - - - B2,248 82,246
Other assets - - - - 13,208 13,206
Assets of disposal groups - - - - 24,939 24,939
Total assets 563,320 285,922 216,451 174,558 124,675 1,364,926
Liabilties
Due to other banks 3,138 5,691 1,060 9,889
Customer accounts 645,840 41,516 332,762 47,377 - 1,067,495
Debt securittes in issue 119 - - 38,411 - 38,530
Other borrowed funds 65,772 - - 272 - 66,044
Other liabilities - - - - 70,487 70,487
Deferred tax hability - - - - 10,552 10,552
Liabities of disposal groups - - - - 1,917 1,817
Total habihities 714,869 47,207 332,762 86,060 84,016 1,264,914
Net sensitivity gap (151,549) 238,715  (116,311) 88,49t 40,659 100,012
Cumulative sensitivity gap at

30 June 2006 {151,549) 87,166 (29,145) 59,353 100,012
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The following table summanses the Group's exposure to interest rate nisks at 31 December 2005 by showlng assets
and habiliies in categories based on the earlier of contractual repncing or maturity dates

Demand From1to From 6 to More than Non- Total
and less € months 12 months 1year monetary
than
in thousands of new Azerbayarm Manats 1 month
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 258,370 - - - - 258,370
Mandatory cash balances with the - -

NBAR 65,941 - - 65,941
Due from other hanks 20,484 6,059 16,708 11,085 - 54,336
Loans and advances to customers 148,449 56,652 209,444 263,925 - 678470
investment secunties available for sale 128 - - - - 128
Investment secunties held to matunty - 6,550 - - - 6,550
Investment in assocrates and joint ventures - - - - 1,363 1,363
Goodwill on acquisition of a subsidiary - - - - 1,460 1,460
Premises, equipment, intangibles and -

investment properties - - - 78,455 78,455
Other assets - - - - 10,236 10,236
Total assets 493,372 69,261 226,152 275,010 91,614 1,155,309
Liabilities
Due to other banks 2,025 2,491 4,262 - - 8,778
Customer accounts 473,669 46,261 30,885 357,759 - 908,574
Debt securities in issue 843 - - 41,344 - 42 187
Other borrowed funds - 62,081 - - - 62,081
Other habiites - - - - 40,253 40,253
Deferred tax habilty - - - - 9,833 9,933
Total habilrties 476,537 110,833 35,147 399,103 50,186 1,071,806
Net sensitivity gap 16,835 (41,572) 191,005 (124,093) 41,328 83,503
Cumulative sensitivity gap at

31 December 2005 16,835 (24,737) 166,268 42,175 83,503

The Group 1s exposed to cash flow interest rate nisk, principally through assets and liabilities for which interest rates
are reset as market rates change Such assets and liabilities are prmarily presented in the above table as being re-
priced in the short-term The Group I1s exposed to fair value interest rate nsk as a result of assets and labilites at
fixed interest rates, these are pnmarnly presented in the above table as being re-priced in the long-term In practice,
interest rates that are contractually fixed on both assets and labilities are usually renegotiated to reflect current
market conditions

The Board of Directors monitors on a daily basis and sets imits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repncing that
may be undertaken In the absence of any available hedging instruments, the Group nommally seeks to match its
tnterest rate positions
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The table below summarises the effechve interest rates by major currencies for major debt instruments The analysis
has been prepared based on period-end effective rates used for amortisation of the respective assets/habiities

30 June 2006 31 December 2005
n%pa usD AZN Euro Other UsD AZN Euro Other
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 36 - - - 31 - - -
Due from resident banks 133 S0 - - 130 - - -
Due from non resident banks 25 - 24 - 22 - 22 -
Loans and advances to customers
— individuals 187 16 9 142 - 209 187 18 1 -
Loans and advances to customers
— corporate 142 142 80 140 158 111 161 152
Investment securities held to
maturity 45 - - - 43 - - -
Liabilities
Customer accounts — corporate 0.6 52 1,6 60 06 65 19 60
Customer accounts — individuals 107 102 86 80 89 94 84 -
Due to other banks - - 40 - - - -
Debt securities in 1ssue 90 90 - -
Other borrowed funds 60 - 90 - 69 - 90 -

The sign “-* in the table above means that the Group does not have the respective assets or hiabilities in
corresponding currency

26 Contingencies and Commitments

Legal proceedings From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Group are received
On the basis of its own estimates and both internal and external professtonal advice the Management 1s of the
opinion that no matenal losses will be incurred in respect of claims and accordingly no provision has been made in
these consolidated financial statements as at 31 June 2006 and 31 December 2005 respectively

Tax legisiatron. Tax, currency and customs legislation of the Repubhc of Azerbayan s subject to varying
interpretations, and changes, which can occur frequently Management's interpretation of such legislation as applied
to the transactions and activity of the Group may be challenged by the relevant tax authonties As a result, significant
additonal taxes, penalties and interest may be assessed Starting from the financial year ended 31 December 2001
fiscal penods remains open to review by the authonties in respect of taxes for three calendar years preceding the
year of review This clause of the Tax Code of the Republic of Azerbayan 15 applied prospectively, | ¢ does not apply
to the financial years prior to 2001 Under certain legislative circumstances reviews may cover longer periods

The tax consequence of transactions for Azerbajjani taxation purposes Is frequently determined by the form, in which
transactions are documented, and the underlying accounting treatment prescribed by Azerbayam Accounting Rules
Accordingly, the Group structures certain transactions so as to take advantage of such form driven determinations to
reduce the overall effective tax rate of the Group Consolidated statement of income as presented In these
consoldated financial statements includes reclassificatrons to reflect the underlying economic substance of those
transactions The effect of these reclassifications was not taken into consideration for the purposes of calculation of
the Group's profit before taxation or the tax charge recorded in these consolidated financial statements

The Group’s Management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legrslation 1s appropnate and the Group's tax,
currency and customs positions will be sustained Accordingly, as at 30 June 2006 no provision for potential tax
habilities had been recorded (31 December 2005 no provision)
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In accordance with Article 18 of the Tax Code of the Republic of Azerbaiyan effective from 1 January 2002, tax
authorities can make transfer-pricing adjustments and impose additional tax habites in respect of transactons
between Inter-related entihies, which are carned out at non-market prices, and all transactions, where pnce differs
from the market price by more than 30%

Capital expenditure commitments. As at 30 June 2006 and 31 December 2005 the Group had no significant
capital commitments

Operating lease commitments Where the Group 1s the lessee, the future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases are as follows

30 June 31 December
in thousands of hew Azerbajam Manals 2008 2005
Not later than 1 year 210 150
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 116 160
Later than 5 years 559 580
Total operating lease commitments 885 890

Credit related commitments, The primary purpose of these instruments 1s to ensure that funds are available to a
customer as required Guarantees and standby letters of credit, which represent irevocable assurances that the
Group will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations te third parties, carry the same
credit nsk as loans Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are wntten undertakings by the Group on
behalf of a customer authorising a third party to draw drafts on the Group up to a stpulated amount under specific
terms and conditions, are collaterahsed by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate or cash deposits
and, therefore, carry less nsk than a direct borrowing

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authonsations to extend credit in the form of loans,
guarantees or letters of credit With respect to credit nsk on commitments to extend credit, the Group 1s potentially
exposed to [0ss 1in an amount egual to the total unused commitments However, the likely amount of loss 1s less than
the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining
specific credit standards The Group monitors the term to matunty of credit related commitments because longer-term
commitments generally have a greater degree of credit nsk than shorter-term commitments Outstanding credit
related commitments are as follows

30 June 31 December
In thousands of new Azerbayan: Manats 2006 2005
Export letters of credit 437,543 274,043
Import letters of credit 433,709 245,622
Guarantees issued 183,189 120,192
Commitments to extend credit and un-drawn credit ines 21,154 22,863
Promissory notes 1ssued by the Group, guaranteed by the
Government of the Republic of Azerbajjan and provided to the
Eximbank (Turkey) against credit facilities as collateral - -
Total credit related commitments 1,075,695 662,720

The total cutstanding contractual amount of undrawn credit hnes, letters of credit, and guarantees does not
necessanly represent future cash requirements, as these financial instruments may expire or terminate without being
funded Faur value of credit related commitments was AZN 1,075,595 thousand at 30 June 2006 (31 December 2005
AZN 662,720 thousand}

Additional provision of AZN 6,235 for losses i relation to uncovered letters of credit, letters of guarantees and
undrawn credits i1ssued by the Group has been recorded in the consolidated statement of income for the six-month
penod ended 30 June 2006 (six-month period ended 30 June 2005 AZN 91 thousand) Refer to Notes 18 and 22
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26 Contingenctes and Commitments (continued)

Of the total export letters of credit as at 30 June 2008, those in the amount of AZN 422,872 thousand (31 December
2005 AZN 202,620 thousand) were 1ssued by foreign banks for exports by the Azerbajan state organisations related
to the ol iIndustry  All export letters of credit are covered by guarantees of foreign banks, and the Group does not
bear any credit risk in relation to these export letters of credit

As at 30 June 2006 credit related commitments in the amount of AZN 82,122 thousand (31 December 2005
AZN 68,486 thousand) are secured by the Azerbayjan government guarantees or blocked customer deposits Refer
to Note 15

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form of loans,
guarantees or letters of credit With respect to credit nsk on commitments to extend credit, the Group 1s potentially
exposed to loss 1n an amount equal to the total unused commitments However, the Iikely amount of 10ss 15 less than
the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers mamtaining
specific credit standards The Group monitors the term to matunty of credit related commitments because longer-term
commitments generally have a greater degree of credit nsk than shorter-term commitments

The total outstanding contractual amount of undrawn credit lines, letters of credit, and guarantees does not
necessarly represent future cash requirements, as these financial instruments may expire or terminate without being
funded

On 15 June 2004 the Group signed a credit agreement where Azerbalan company acted as a borrower, the Group -
as a guarantor of the Azerbaijam company, Commerzbank AG - as a lender and Export-Import Bank of the United
States - as a guarantor of Commerzbank AG for a credit ine of USD 7,638 thousand {31 December 2005 USD
19,638) thousand at the rate of LIBOR plus 0 10% per annum repayable in sixteen semi-annual instalments
begmning from 5 November 2006 for the purposes of construction of a business and entertainment complex in the
centre of Baku As at 30 June 2006 an import letter of credit in the amount of USD 9,487 thousand or AZN 8,506
thousand (31 December 2005 USD 6,645 thousand or AZN 6,103 thousand) has been 1ssued by the Group for this
borrower under the above credit facility

Intermediary loans. As at 30 June 2006 the Group has borrowed funds amounting to AZN 30,593 thousand
{31 Decemnber 2005 AZN 35,294 thousand) on behalf of the Government of the Republic of Azerbayan from foregn
banks and financial institutons for the purposes of providing intermediary loans to state-owned enterprises and
government bodies of the Republic of Azerbaijan The loan agreements signed between the Group and these foreign
banks and financial inshtutions are secured by unconditional letters of guarantee of the Government of the Republic
of Azerbalan, whereby the Government acts as the pnmary obligor in relation to these borrowings  As a result, the
Group acts as a loan-servicing agent for the Government of the Republic of Azerbayan by transferring collected
principal and interest payments to foreign banks and financial mstitutions and eams no interest margin on these
loans

As the Group does not receive the benefits and does not bear the nisks of these intermediary loans, the Group has
recorded these intermediary loans amounting as at 30 June 2006 to AZN 30,593 thousand (31 December
2005 AZN 35,294 thousand) on off-balance sheet accounts Similarly funds receved by the Group to finance these
intermediary loans in the comresponding amounts have also been recorded on off balance sheet accounts

Funds borrowed by the Group for the purposes of providing intermediary loans are, as follows

in thousands of new Azerbayary Manats 30 June 2006 31 December 2005

Export Credit Bank of Turkey (Eximbank)
- Trade finance facility 30,593 35,294

Total funds borrowed for the purposes of providing intermediary loans 30,593 35,294
and transferred to off-balance sheet accounts
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27 Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value 1s the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged 1n a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced sale or hiquidation, and Is best evidenced by an active quoted market pnce

The estmated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Group, using available market
information, where It exists, and appropnate valuation methodologies However, jJudgement 1s necessanly required to
interpret market data to determine the estimated farr value The Republic of Azerbajan continues to display some
charactenstics of an emerging market and economic conditions continue te imit the volume of actmvity in the financial
markets Market quotations may be outdated or reflect distress sale transachons and therefore not represent far
values of financial instruments Management has used all available market information In estimating the fair value of
financial instruments

Financial instruments carrfed at fair value Investment secunties available for sale are carried on the consolidated
balance sheet at their farr value Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost which approximates current
fair value

Fair values were determined based on quoted market prices except for certain investment secunties available for sale
for which there were no avalable external independent market price quotations These secunties have been far
valued by the Group on the basis of results of recent sales of equity Interests In the investees between unrelated third
parties, consideration of other relevant information such as discounted cash flows and financial data of the investees
and apphcation of other valuation methodologies Valuation technigues required certain assumptions that were not
supported by observable market data Changing any such used assumptions to a reasonably possible alternative
would not result in a significantly different profit, Income, total assets or total habilities

Investment securittes held to maturity Farr value for investment secunties held to matunty 15 based on quoted
market prices

Farr value 1s the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced sale or iquidation, and 1s best evidenced by an active quoted market price

The estmated far values of financial instruments have been determined by the Group using available market
information, where 1t exists, and appropriate valuation methodologies However, judgement i1s necessarily required to
interpret market data to determine the estimated far value The Republic of Azerbaljan contnues to display
charactenstics of an emerging market and economic conditions continue to imit the volume of activity in the financial
markets Market quotations may not be reflective of the values for financial instruments, which would be determined
in an efficient, active market invelving willing buyers and willing sellers While Management has used available
market information in estimating the fair value of financial instruments, the market information may not be fully
reflective of the value that could be realised in the current circumstances

Financial instruments carried at fair value Cash and cash equivalents and investment secunties available for sale
are carnied on the consohdated balance sheet at therr fair value External independent market quotations were not
avallable for certain investment secunties avallable for sale The far value of these assets was determined by
Management on the basis of results of recent sales of equity interests in the investees between unrelated third
parties, consideration of other relevant information such as discounted cash flows and financial data of the investees
and application of other valuation methodelogies

Loans onginated carned at amortised cost less provision for impairment. The far value of floating rate
nstruments 15 normally their carrying amount The estimated fair value of fixed interest rate instruments is based on
estmated future cash flows expected to be received discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with
similar credit nsk and remaining matunty Refer to Notes 7 and 8 for the estmated farr values of due from other banks
and loans and advances to customers, respectively

Liabtimies carried at amortised cost. The far value of instruments with a quated market pnce 1s based on quoted
market pnces The estimated far value of instruments with no stated matunty 1s the amount repayable on demand
The estimated fair value of fixed interest rate instruments without a quoted market prce 1s based on expected cash
flows discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar credit nsk and remaining matunty Refer to
Notes 14, 15, 16 and 17 for the estimated fair values of due to other banks, customer accounts, debt secunties in
1ssue and other borrowed funds, respectively
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28 Related Party Transactions

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational
decisions as defined by IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures™ In considenng each possible related party relationship,
attention 1s directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form

Banking transactions are entered into in the normal course of business with significant shareholders, directors,
subsidiaries, associates, companies, with which the Group has significant shareholders in common and other related
parties These transactions inciude settlements, loans, deposit taking, guarantees, trade finance and foreign currency
transactions These transactions are pnced predominantly at market rates

The outstanding balances of the transactions of the Group as at 31 December 2005 and 31 December 2004 with
related parties are, as follows

30 June 2006
Shareholders Government bodies Other*
and management and state-owned

In thousands of new Azerbayani Manats entities
Cash and cash equivalents 4478 58,013 -
Mandatory balances with NBAR - 85,5612 -
Loans and advances to customers -
Loans and advances as at the pernod end - 283,892 -
Provision for impairment of loans and advances to - (35,194) -
customers as at penod end
Interest income for the period - 2,802 -
Due from other banks - -
Term placements with resident banks 10,446 - -
Provision for mpairment of due from banks as at penod (1,105) - -
end
Interest iIncome on due from other banks 23 - -
Other Assets - - 88
Due to other banks - -
Corresponding accounts of other banks as at pernod end 622 - -
Customer accounts
Current/settlements accounts as at penod end g 326,153 103
Term deposits outstanding as at the period eng 14 301,985 -
Interest expense for the penod - 50 -
Other Liabilities 6,577 24,063 -
Credit related commitments
Letters of guarantees as at penod end - 27,646 -
Fee and commission income for the penod - 2,675 -

Other expense
Staff costs (279) -
Other aperating expenses -

Insurance operations - - -
Insurance premiums receivable - - -
Insurance premiums payable - - -
Insurance premiums written dunng the perniod - - -
Insurance premiums ceded during the penod - - -
Insurance related commission income - - -
Insurance related commission expense - - -

*Other related parties - include balances and fransactions with associates, joint ventures and other related parties
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28 Retated Party Transactions (Continued)

In thousands of new Azerbagarn Manats

31 December 2005

Shareholders and
management

Government
bodies and state-
owned entities

Other*

Cash and cash equivalents
Mandatory balances with NBAR

Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances as at the penod-end

Provision for mpairment of loans and advances to
customers as at penod-end

Interest income for the penod

Due from other banks

Term placements with resident banks (contractual
interest rates 2004 7%- 18%)

Provision for impairment of due from banks as at penod-
end

Interest iIncome on due from other banks

Other Assets

Due to other banks
Corresponding accounts of other banks as at penod-end

Customer accounts

Current/settlements accounts as at penod-end
Term depaosits outstanding as at the penod-end
Interest expense for the penod

Other Liabilities

Credit related commitments
Letters of guarantees as at penod-end

Fee and commission income for the period

Other expense
Staff costs
Other operating expenses

Insurance operations

Insurance premums receivable

insurance premiums payable

Insurance prermums written dunng the period
Insurance premiums ceded dunng the period
Insurance related commission income
Insurance related commission expense

299

8,661
(536)
3

1,083

69

2,400

37

(354)
124
356

3

155,683

65,096

350,078

(26,591)
4,723

241,317
320,568
60

26,285

66,338

4,219

71

*Other related parties - include balances and transactions with associates, joint ventures and other related parties

Dunng the six month penod ended 30 June 2006 the total remunerabon of members of the Board of Directors and
key management personnel of the Group including discretionary compensation amounted to AZN 279 thousand (six

months in 2005 AZN 264 thousand)

As at 30 June 2006 the Group's employees hold 5 74% of the total share capital of the Group, which amounts to
AZN 2,298 thousand (31 December 2005 4 71% and AZN 1,169 thousand respectively)

The Group 1s controlled by the Government of the Republic of Azerbayan Therefore, In accordance with revised IAS
24 transactions with the Government, the Mimistry of Finance of the Republic of Azerbayan and state-owned
companies of the Republic of Azerbaijan are included in the above related party transactions
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29 Principal Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures

The subsidianes and associates of the Group included in these consolidated financial statements are presented in
the table below

Percentage of

ownership

Name Subsidiary/ Nature of  Country of 30 June 31 December

assoclate  business Registration 2006 2005
Baku Inter-Bank Currency Exchange Associate Currency Republic of Azerbajan 200 200
Trans-service Joint Parking Republic of Azerbaijan 500 800
IBAR Moscow Subsidiary  Banking Russian Federation 1000 1000
International Insurance Company Subsidiary  Insurance  Republic of Azerbayan 1000 1000
inter Protect Re AG Subsidiary  Remnsurance Switzerland 1000 1000
Azencard Limited Subsidiary  Plastic cards Repubhc of Azerbayan 1000 1000
Azenleasing Held for sale Leasing Republic of Azerbayjan 1000 1000
“Inter” Professional football club Held for sale Professional Republic of Azerbayan 1000 1000

sports

The financial statements of Trans-service were included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group as
investment in Joint venture as at 31 December 2003 for the first time, using equity accounting method Net share of
losses of Trans-service accumulated prior to 1 January 2003 totaling AZN 137 thousand has been recorded as part
of other movements in the consolidated statement of shareholders equity of the Group for year ended 31 December
2003 Refer to Note 10

On 7 October 2002 the Group's Insurance Subsidiary, Internatonal Insurance Company, has established a
rensurance company, Inter Protect Re AG It was registered in Zunch, Switzerland The Insurance Subsidiary of the
Group transferred CHF 1,450 thousand or AZN 827 thousand as contnbution to the share capital and reserves of
Inter Protect Re AG  Of the total amount transferred, CHF 1,200 thousand was used to pay for 1,000 shares at CHF
1,200 par value each, CHF 200 thousand as a payment for the share premium and the remaining CHF 50 thousand
as contribution to capital reserves of the company

The financial statements of Azenleasing, the Group's leasing subsidiary, were included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the first tme as at 31 December 2003 The accumulated losses of Azenleasing pnor to 1
January 2003 totaling AZN 275 thousand were recorded as part of other movements in the consolidated statement of
shareholders equity of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2003

On 20 July 2004 “Inter” professional football club was established and registered with the Ministry of Justice of the
Republic of Azerbaijan In accordance with the foundation agreement signed between the Bank and Azencard
Limited the charter capital of the professicnal football club was set at AZN 402 thousand, of which AZN 300 thousand
was contnbuted by the Bank and the remaining AZN 102 thousand by Azencard Limited This club 1s a member of
the Azerbanan Football Federations Association and 1s currently among the top five professional football clubs in the
country as per the preliminary results of the national football tournament During the six-month pericd ended 30 June
2006 the Bank provided financial aid to “Inter” in the amount of AZN 4,500 thousand (2005 AZN 4,500 thousand) and
Azerncard Limited in the amount of AZN 320 thousand (2005 AZN 320 thousand), respectively As at 31 December
2004 financial statements of “Inter” professional football club were Included In consolidated financial statements of
the Group as a fully owned subsidiary of the Bank for the first ime

Dunng the subsequent pernod the Group has sold its interest in 2 of its subsidianes including “Inter” and
“*Azenleasing”

On 25 July 2006 the Group sold 100% of its interest in “Inter” professional football club to a local company at an
arms-length transaction with a total consideration of AZN 540 thousand

0On 19 September 2006 the Group signed an agreement with a British leasing company on the sale of 52 4% of its
mterest in “Azenleasing” with a total consideration of AZN 24,170 thousand The management of the Group believes
that terms and references of this contract constitute with those of an ordinary arms-length contract with unrelated
parties

The companson between net carrying amount of disposal groups and their farr value of net assets as at 30 June
2006 15 provided below
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29 Principal Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures (Continued)

Carrying amount after classification as held for sale

Disposal group  Disposal group

l Il Total
in thousands of new Azerbayam Manats Note Inter FC Azerleasing
Property, plant and eguipment 525 24 549
Leasing receivables 16,304 16,304
Prepayments 1,247 6,344 7,591
Deferred tax asset 23 - 455 455
Other assets 39 1 40
Total assets of disposal groups 1,811 23,128 24,939
Liabilities to third parties {1,315) (563) (1,878)
Deferred tax iability 23 {39) - {39)
Total habilities of disposal groups (1,354) (563) {1,917)
Net carrying amount of disposal groups 457 22,565 23,022

Farr value of net assets of the disposal groups

Disposal group | Disposal group |l

Inter FC Azenleasing

Immediate consideration 448 367
Deferred consideration 92 23,803
Total fair value of net assets of disposal groups 540 24,170

In both cases, net carrying amounts of disposal groups are lower than the total fair value of net assets of disposal
groups Therefore, these disposal groups are recorded at their net carrying amount yielding no impairment loss as at
30 June 2006

30 Subsequent Events

During the subsequent period the Group has sold its interest in two of its subsidianes including “Inter” and
*Azerleasing’

On 25 July 2006 the Group scld 100% of its interest in “Inter” professional football club to a local company at an
arms-length transaction Refer to Note 29

On 19 September 2006 the Group signed an agreement with a British leasing company on the sale of 52 4% of its
interest in “Azenleasing” The management of the Group believes that terms and references of this contract constitute
with those of an ordinary arms-length contract with unrelated parties Refer to Note 29
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